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Part I FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 

Item 1 - Financial Statements

STEPAN COMPANY
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Unaudited
 

(In thousands, except per share amounts)  
Three Months Ended

June 30   
Six Months Ended

June 30  
  2015   2014   2015   2014  
Net Sales  $ 452,414  $ 504,111  $ 912,865  $ 981,553 
Cost of Sales   372,902   432,522   756,911   846,940 
Gross Profit   79,512   71,589   155,954   134,613 
Operating Expenses:                 

Selling   14,265   13,493   27,262   27,639 
Administrative   24,055   9,052   43,394   23,483 
Research, development and technical services   12,597   12,130   24,387   24,054 

   50,917   34,675   95,043   75,176 
                 
Gain on sale of product line   —   —   2,862   — 
                 
Operating Income   28,595   36,914   63,773   59,437 
Other Income (Expense):                 

Interest, net   (2,869)   (3,021)   (6,923)   (5,978)
Loss from equity in joint ventures   (1,815)   (1,243)   (3,055)   (2,694)
Other, net (Note 13)   235   556   887   530 

   (4,449)   (3,708)   (9,091)   (8,142)
                 
Income Before Provision for Income Taxes   24,146   33,206   54,682   51,295 
Provision for Income Taxes   7,205   8,838   16,455   13,919 
Net Income   16,941   24,368   38,227   37,376 

Net Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests (Note 2)   (27)   (15)   (43)   (5)
Net Income Attributable to Stepan Company  $ 16,914  $ 24,353  $ 38,184  $ 37,371 
                 
Net Income Per Common Share Attributable to Stepan
Company
   (Note 9):                 

Basic  $ 0.74  $ 1.07  $ 1.68  $ 1.64 
Diluted  $ 0.74  $ 1.06  $ 1.67  $ 1.63 

                 
Shares Used to Compute Net Income Per Common Share
   Attributable to Stepan Company (Note 9):                 

Basic   22,742   22,763   22,731   22,768 
Diluted   22,871   22,931   22,850   22,948 
                 

Dividends Declared Per Common Share  $ 0.18  $ 0.17  $ 0.36  $ 0.34 

 
The accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STEPAN COMPANY

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Unaudited

 

(In thousands)  
Three Months Ended

June 30   
Six Months Ended

June 30  
  2015   2014   2015   2014  

Net income  $ 16,941  $ 24,368  $ 38,227  $ 37,376 
Other comprehensive income (loss):                 

Foreign currency translation adjustments (Note 10)   5,957   3,718   (19,195)   3,812 
Pension liability adjustment, net of tax (Note 10)   750   410   1,499   820 
Derivative instrument activity, net of tax (Note 10)   16   1   (26)   4 

Other comprehensive income (loss)   6,723   4,129   (17,722)   4,636 
Comprehensive income   23,664   28,497   20,505   42,012 

Comprehensive (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (Note
2)   (44)   9   (45)   42 

Comprehensive income attributable to Stepan Company  $ 23,620  $ 28,506  $ 20,460  $ 42,054 

The accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STEPAN COMPANY

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
Unaudited

 
 
(In thousands)  June 30, 2015   December 31, 2014  
Assets         
Current Assets:         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 82,365  $ 85,215 
Receivables, net   264,496   270,436 
Inventories (Note 6)   178,582   183,233 
Deferred income taxes   15,781   15,364 
Other current assets   23,160   21,308 

Total current assets   564,384   575,556 
Property, Plant and Equipment:         

Cost   1,417,600   1,385,851 
Less:  accumulated depreciation   (880,763)   (861,656)

Property, plant and equipment, net   536,837   524,195 
Goodwill, net   11,398   11,502 
Other intangible assets, net   19,379   20,803 
Long-term investments (Note 3)   20,273   20,217 
Other non-current assets   9,289   9,741 

Total assets  $ 1,161,560  $ 1,162,014 
Liabilities and Equity         
Current Liabilities:         

Current maturities of long-term debt  (Note 12)  $ 24,826  $ 27,034 
Accounts payable   140,047   156,983 
Accrued liabilities   69,100   65,496 

Total current liabilities   233,973   249,513 
Deferred income taxes   15,453   15,804 
Long-term debt, less current maturities  (Note 12)   235,644   246,897 
Other non-current liabilities   124,528   112,856 
Commitments and Contingencies  (Note 7)         
Equity:         

Common stock, $1 par value; authorized 30,000,000 shares;
   Issued  shares 25,685,308 in 2015 and 25,640,090  shares in 2014   25,685   25,640 
Additional paid-in capital   142,286   139,573 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (Note 10)   (101,669)   (83,945)
Retained earnings   550,663   520,540 
Less:  Common treasury stock, at cost, 3,386,626  shares in 2015
   and  3,384,443 shares in 2014   (66,446)   (66,262)

Total Stepan Company stockholders’ equity   550,519   535,546 
Noncontrolling interests (Note 2)   1,443   1,398 

Total equity   551,962   536,944 
Total liabilities and equity  $ 1,161,560  $ 1,162,014 

 
The accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STEPAN COMPANY

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Unaudited

 
 

(In thousands)  Six Months Ended June 30  
  2015   2014  

Cash Flows From Operating Activities         
Net income  $ 38,227  $ 37,376 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
   provided by operating activities:         

Depreciation and amortization   32,859   32,482 
Deferred compensation   8,150   (5,665)
Realized and unrealized gains on long-term investments   (642)   (555)
Stock-based compensation   3,162   770 
Deferred income taxes   (1,953)   1,735 
Other non-cash items   508   3,234 
Changes in assets and liabilities:         

Receivables, net   (679)   (39,083)
Inventories   (245)   (30,614)
Other current assets   (2,438)   1,288 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   3,386   16,505 
Pension liabilities   358   (970)
Environmental and legal liabilities   (1,408)   (510)
Deferred revenues   (781)   (366)

Excess tax benefit from stock options and awards   (236)   (580)
Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities   78,268   15,047 

Cash Flows From Investing Activities         
Expenditures for property, plant and equipment   (54,021)   (39,063)
Business acquisition (Note 16)   (5,133)   — 
Proceeds from sale of product line (Note14)   3,262   — 
Sale of mutual funds   823   890 
Other, net   (2,569)   (4,277)

Net Cash Used In Investing Activities   (57,638)   (42,450)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities         
Revolving debt and bank overdrafts, net   (9,435)   2,090 
Other debt repayments   (2,503)   (1,371)
Dividends paid   (8,061)   (7,592)
Company stock repurchased   —   (4,924)
Stock option exercises   359   1,449 
Excess tax benefit from stock options and awards   236   580 
Other, net   (275)   (133)

Net Cash (Used In) Financing Activities   (19,679)   (9,901)
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash   (3,801)   405 
Net Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents   (2,850)   (36,899)
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period   85,215   133,347 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period  $ 82,365  $ 96,448 
Supplemental Cash Flow Information         

Cash payments of income taxes, net of refunds  $ 6,873  $ 16,753 
Cash payments of interest  $ 6,046  $ 6,221 

 
The accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STEPAN COMPANY

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2015

Unaudited
 
 

1. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The condensed consolidated financial statements included herein have been prepared by Stepan Company (Company), without audit, pursuant to the
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial
statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (US GAAP) have been condensed or
omitted pursuant to such rules and regulations, although management believes that the disclosures are adequate and make the information presented
not misleading.  In the opinion of management, all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring accruals, necessary to present fairly the
Company’s financial position as of June 30, 2015, and its results of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, and cash
flows for the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, have been included.  These financial statements and related footnotes should be read in
conjunction with the financial statements and related footnotes included in the Company’s 2014 Form 10-K.

 
 
2. RECONCILIATIONS OF EQUITY

Below are reconciliations of total equity, Company equity and equity attributable to noncontrolling interests for the six months ended June 30, 2015
and 2014:

 

(In thousands)  Total Equity   

Stepan
Company

Equity   

Noncontrolling
Interests’
Equity (3)  

Balance at January 1, 2015  $ 536,944  $ 535,546  $ 1,398 
Net income   38,227   38,184   43 
Dividends   (8,061)   (8,061)   — 
Common stock purchases (1)   (273)   (273)   — 
Stock option exercises   359   359   — 
Defined benefit pension adjustments, net of tax   1,499   1,499   — 
Translation adjustments   (19,195)   (19,197)   2 
Derivative instrument activity, net of tax   (26)   (26)   — 
Other (2)   2,488   2,488   — 
Balance at June 30, 2015  $ 551,962  $ 550,519  $ 1,443 

 

(In thousands)  Total Equity   

Stepan
Company

Equity   

Noncontrolling
Interests’
Equity (3)  

Balance at January 1, 2014  $ 553,741  $ 552,286  $ 1,455 
Net income   37,376   37,371   5 
Dividends   (7,592)   (7,592)   — 
Common stock purchases (1)   (5,058)   (5,058)   — 
Stock option exercises   1,449   1,449   — 
Defined benefit pension adjustments, net of tax   820   820   — 
Translation adjustments   3,812   3,859   (47)
Derivative instrument activity, net of tax   4   4   — 
Other (2)   1,825   1,825   — 
Balance at June 30, 2014  $ 586,377  $ 584,964  $ 1,413 

 

(1) Includes the value of Company shares purchased in the open market and the value of Company common shares tendered by employees to settle
minimum statutory withholding taxes related to the receipt of performance awards and deferred compensation distributions.

(2) Primarily comprised of activity related to stock-based compensation, deferred compensation and excess tax benefits.
(3) Reflects the noncontrolling interest in the Company’s China joint venture.
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3. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The following describe the financial instruments held by the Company at June 30, 2015, and December 31, 2014, and the methods and assumptions
used to estimate the instruments’ fair values:

Cash and cash equivalents

Carrying value approximates fair value because of the short maturity of the instruments.

Derivative assets and liabilities

Derivative assets and liabilities include the foreign currency exchange and interest rate contracts discussed in Note 4.  Fair value and carrying value
were the same because the contracts were recorded at fair value.  The fair values of the foreign currency contracts were calculated as the difference
between the applicable forward foreign exchange rates at the reporting date and the contracted foreign exchange rates multiplied by the contracted
notional amounts.  The fair values of the interest rate swaps were calculated as the difference between the contracted swap rate and the current market
replacement swap rate multiplied by the present value of one basis point for the notional amount of the contract.  See the table that follows the
financial instrument descriptions for the reported fair values of derivative assets and liabilities.

Long-term investments

Long-term investments include the mutual fund assets the Company holds to fund a portion of its deferred compensation liabilities and all of its non-
qualified supplemental executive defined contribution obligations (see the defined contribution plans section of Note 9).  Fair value and carrying value
were the same because the mutual fund assets were recorded at fair value in accordance with the fair value option rules established by the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB).  Fair values for the mutual funds were calculated using the published market price per unit at the reporting date
multiplied by the number of units held at the reporting date.  See the table that follows the financial instrument descriptions for the reported fair value
of long-term investments.

Debt obligations

The fair value of debt with original maturities greater than one year comprised the combined present values of scheduled principal and interest
payments for each of the various loans, individually discounted at rates equivalent to those which could be obtained by the Company for new debt
issues with durations equal to the average life to maturity of each loan.  The fair values of the remaining Company debt obligations approximated their
carrying values due to the short-term nature of the debt.  The Company’s fair value measurements for debt fall in level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

At June 30, 2015, and December 31, 2014, the fair value of debt and the related carrying values, including current maturities, were as follows:
 

(In thousands)  
June 30,

2015   
December 31,

2014  
Fair value  $ 269,705  $ 285,441 
Carrying value   260,470   273,931 

 
The following tables present financial assets and liabilities measured on a recurring basis at fair value as of June 30, 2015, and December 31,

2014, and the level within the fair value hierarchy in which the fair value measurements fall:
 

(In thousands)  
June
2015   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3  

Mutual fund assets  $ 20,273  $ 20,273  $ —  $ — 
Derivative assets:                 

Foreign currency contracts   59   —   59   — 
Total assets at fair value  $ 20,332  $ 20,273  $ 59  $ — 
Derivative liabilities:                 

Foreign currency contracts  $ 149  $ —  $ 149  $ — 
Interest rate contracts   30   —   30   — 

Total liabilities at fair value  $ 179  $ —  $ 179  $ — 
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(In thousands)  
December

2014   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3  
Mutual fund assets  $ 20,217  $ 20,217  $ —  $ — 
Derivative assets:                 

Foreign currency contracts   73   —   73   — 
Total assets at fair value  $ 20,290  $ 20,217  $ 73  $ — 
Derivative liabilities :                 

Foreign currency contracts  $ 628   —  $ 628   — 
 
 
 
4. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

The Company is exposed to certain risks relating to its ongoing business operations. The primary risk managed by the use of derivative instruments is
foreign currency exchange risk.  The Company holds forward foreign currency exchange contracts that are not designated as any type of accounting
hedge as defined by U.S. GAAP.  The Company uses these contracts to manage its exposure to exchange rate fluctuations on certain Company
subsidiary cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and other obligation balances that are denominated in currencies other than the entities’
functional currencies. The forward foreign exchange contracts are recognized on the balance sheet as either an asset or a liability measured at fair
value. Gains and losses arising from recording the foreign exchange contracts at fair value are reported in earnings as offsets to the losses and gains
reported in earnings arising from the re-measurement of the asset and liability balances into the applicable functional currencies. At June 30, 2015, and
December 31, 2014, the Company had open forward foreign currency exchange contracts, all with settlement dates of less than one month, to buy or
sell foreign currencies with U.S. dollar equivalent amounts of $45,601,000 and $51,623,000, respectively.

The Company is exposed to volatility in short-term interest rates and mitigates certain portions of that risk by using interest rate swaps.  The
interest rate swaps are recognized on the balance sheet as either an asset or a liability measured at fair value.  The Company held an interest rate swap
contract with a notional value of $4,138,000   at June 30, 2015, which is designated as a cash flow hedge.  At December 31, 2014, the Company held
no significant interest rate swap contracts.  Period-to-period changes in the fair value of interest rate swap contracts are recognized as gains or losses in
other comprehensive income, to the extent effective.  As each interest rate swap hedge contract is settled, the corresponding gain or loss is reclassified
out of accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) into earnings in that settlement period. The latest date through which the Company expects to
hedge its exposure to the volatility of short-term interest rates is December 1, 2021.

The fair values of the derivative instruments held by the Company on June 30, 2015, and December 31, 2014, and derivative instrument gains
and losses for the three and six month periods ending June 30, 2015 and 2014, were immaterial.  For amounts reclassified out of AOCI into earnings
for the three and six month periods ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, see Note 10.

 
 
5. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

On June 30, 2015 the Company had stock options outstanding under its 2000 Stock Option Plan, stock options and stock awards outstanding under its
2006 Incentive Compensation Plan and stock options, stock awards and stock appreciation rights (SARs) outstanding under its 2011 Incentive
Compensation Plan.

Compensation expense recorded for all stock options, stock awards and SARs was as follows:

(In thousands)  
Three Months Ended

June 30   
Six Months Ended

June 30  
2015   2014   2015   2014  

$ 2,364  $ 544  $ 3,162  $ 770 
 

The period-over-period increases in stock-based compensation expenses were primarily attributable to increases in the fair values of the Company’s
cash-settled SARs, which are marked to fair value at each reporting period. A significant increase in the market value of Company common stock in
the 2015 reporting periods led to the increase in SARs fair value.  Additionally, in the first quarter of 2014, management assessed that the profitability
performance targets on which the compensation expenses for stock awards vesting on December 31, 2014, were based would not be achieved.
Consequently, the resulting adjustment lowered the overall stock-based compensation expense for the six months ended June 30, 2014.  
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Unrecognized compensation costs for stock options, stock awards and SARs were as follows:

(In thousands)
 June 30, 2015   December 31, 2014  

Stock options  $ 1,390  $ 774 
Stock awards   3,400   1,365 
SARs   2,855   693 

 

The increases in unrecognized compensation costs for stock options, stock awards and SARs reflected the 2015 grants of:

  Shares  
Stock options   84,672 
Stock awards   74,712 
SARs   187,527 

 

The unrecognized compensation costs at June 30, 2015, are expected to be recognized over weighted-average periods of 1.4 years, 2.2 years and 1.4
years for stock options, stock awards and SARs, respectively.

 
 
6. INVENTORIES

The composition of inventories was as follows: 
 

(In thousands)  June 30, 2015   December 31, 2014  
Finished goods  $ 128,113  $ 126,157 
Raw materials   50,469   57,076 

Total inventories  $ 178,582  $ 183,233 
 

Inventories are priced primarily using the last-in, first-out inventory valuation method.  If the first-in, first-out inventory valuation method had
been used for all inventories, inventory balances would have been approximately $31,655,000 and $34,340,000 higher than reported at June 30, 2015,
and December 31, 2014, respectively.

 
 
7. CONTINGENCIES

There are a variety of legal proceedings pending or threatened against the Company.  Some of these proceedings may result in fines, penalties,
judgments or costs being assessed against the Company at some future time.  The Company’s operations are subject to extensive local, state and
federal regulations, including the U.S. Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980 (CERCLA) and the
Superfund amendments of 1986 (Superfund).  Over the years, the Company has received requests for information related to or has been named by the
government as a potentially responsible party (PRP) at a number of waste disposal sites where cleanup costs have been or may be incurred under
CERCLA and similar state statutes.  In addition, damages are being claimed against the Company in general liability actions for alleged personal
injury or property damage in the case of some disposal and plant sites.  The Company believes that it has made adequate provisions for the costs it may
incur with respect to these sites.

As of June 30, 2015, the Company estimated a range of possible environmental and legal losses of $20.7 million to $41.1 million.  At June 30,
2015, and December 31, 2014, the Company’s accrued liability for such losses, which represented the Company’s best estimate within the estimated
range of possible environmental and legal losses, was $20.7 million and $22.0  million, respectively. During the first six months of 2015 and 2014,
cash outlays related to legal and environmental matters approximated $1.9 and $0.5 million, respectively.  

For certain sites, the Company has responded to information requests made by federal, state or local government agencies but has received no
response confirming or denying the Company’s stated positions. As such, estimates of the total costs, or range of possible costs, of remediation, if any,
or the Company’s share of such costs, if any, cannot be determined with respect to these sites. Consequently, the Company is unable to predict the
effect thereof on the Company’s financial position, cash flows and results of operations. Given the information available, management believes the
Company has no liability at these sites. However, in the event of one or more adverse determinations with respect to such sites in any annual or interim
period, the effect on the Company’s cash flows and results of operations for those periods could be material.  Based upon the Company’s present
knowledge with respect to its involvement at these sites, the possibility of other viable entities’ responsibilities for
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cleanup, and the extended period over which any costs would be incurred, the Company believes that these matters, individually and in the aggregate,
will not have a material effect on the Company’s financial position.

Following are summaries of the material contingencies at June 30, 2015:

Maywood, New Jersey Site

The Company’s property in Maywood, New Jersey and property formerly owned by the Company adjacent to its current site and other nearby
properties (Maywood site) were listed on the National Priorities List in September 1993 pursuant to the provisions of CERCLA because of certain
alleged chemical contamination.  Pursuant to an Administrative Order on Consent entered into between USEPA and the Company for property
formerly owned by the Company, and the issuance of an order by USEPA to the Company for property currently owned by the Company, the
Company has completed various Remedial Investigation Feasibility Studies (RI/FS), and on September 24, 2014, USEPA issued its Record of
Decision (ROD) for chemically-contaminated soil. USEPA has not yet issued a ROD for chemically-contaminated groundwater for the Maywood site.
Based on the most current information available, the Company recorded a $0.6 million increase in its remediation liability for this site in the three
months ended March 31, 2015. The Company believes its recorded liability represents its best estimate of the cost of remediation for the Maywood
site. The best estimate of the cost of remediation for the Maywood site could change as the Company continues to hold discussions with USEPA, as
the design of the remedial action progresses or if other PRPs are identified. The ultimate amount for which the Company is liable could differ from the
Company’s current recorded liability.

In April 2015, the Company entered into an Administrative Settlement Agreement and Administrative Order on Consent with USEPA which
requires payment of certain costs and performance of certain investigative and design work for chemically-contaminated soil.  Based on the
Company’s review and analysis of this order, no changes to the Company’s current recorded liability for claims associated with soil remediation of
chemical contamination were required.  

In addition, under the terms of a settlement agreement reached on November 12, 2004, the United States Department of Justice and the
Company agreed to fulfill the terms of a Cooperative Agreement reached in 1985 under which the United States will take title to and responsibility for
radioactive waste removal at the Maywood site, including past and future remediation costs incurred by the United States.  As such, the Company
recorded no liability related to this settlement agreement.

D’Imperio Property Site

During the mid-1970’s, Jerome Lightman and the Lightman Drum Company disposed of hazardous substances at several sites in New Jersey.  The
Company was named as a PRP in the case United States v. Lightman (1:92-cv-4710 D.N.J.), which involved the D’Imperio Property Site located in
New Jersey.  In 2012, the PRPs approved certain changes to remediation cost estimates which were considered in the Company’s determination of its
range of estimated possible losses and liability balance.  The changes in range of possible losses and liability balance were immaterial.  Remediation
work is continuing at this site.  Based on current information, the Company believes that its recorded liability for claims associated with the D’Imperio
site is adequate.  However, actual costs could differ from current estimates.

Wilmington Site

The Company is currently contractually obligated to contribute to the response costs associated with the Company’s formerly-owned site at 51 Eames
Street, Wilmington, Massachusetts.  Remediation at this site is being managed by its current owner to whom the Company sold the property in
1980.  Under the agreement, once total site remediation costs exceed certain levels, the Company is obligated to contribute up to five percent of future
response costs associated with this site with no limitation on the ultimate amount of contributions. To date, the Company has paid the current owner
$2.3 million for the Company’s portion of environmental response costs. The Company has recorded a liability for its portion of the estimated
remediation costs for the site.  Depending on the ultimate cost of the remediation at this site, the amount for which the Company is liable could differ
from the current estimates.

The Company and other prior owners also entered into an agreement in April 2004 waiving certain statute of limitations defenses for claims
which may be filed by the Town of Wilmington, Massachusetts, in connection with this site.  While the Company has denied any liability for any such
claims, the Company agreed to this waiver while the parties continue to discuss the resolution of any potential claim which may be filed.

The Company believes that based on current information its recorded liability for the claims related to this site is adequate.  However,
depending on the ultimate cost of the remediation at this site, the amount for which the Company is liable could differ from the current estimates.
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Unclaimed Property Examination

The Company is undergoing an unclaimed property examination by the state of Delaware (the Company’s state of incorporation) and seven other
states for the period covering 1981 through 2010. The types of unclaimed property under examination include certain un-cashed payroll and accounts
payable checks and certain accounts receivable credits.  Generally, unclaimed property must be reported and remitted to the state of the rightful
owner.  In cases where the rightful owner cannot be identified, the property must be reported and remitted to the unclaimed property holder’s state of
incorporation. The examination of un-cashed payroll and accounts payable checks has been completed, and no significant adjustments to the
Company’s unclaimed property liability were required. The examination of accounts receivable credits is ongoing. On the basis of currently available
information, the Company believes its liability for unclaimed property is adequate. Because the audit is not final, the Company’s ultimate actual
obligation could differ from the recorded liability.

Customer Claims

From time to time in the normal course of business, customers make claims against the Company for issues such as product performance and liability,
contract disputes, delivery errors and other various concerns. Frequently, such claims are subject to extensive investigation, discussion and negotiation
prior to settlement or resolution. On the basis of the most current information available, the Company’s liability for such claims was $784,000 at June
30, 2015 compared to $4,016,000 at March 31, 2015, and $3,475,000 at December 31, 2014. The decline in the claims balance was attributable to a
favorable 2015 second quarter settlement of a previously recorded potential claim. The actual amounts ultimately paid, if any, to settle the remaining
claims balance could differ from the amounts currently recorded.

Mexico Value-Added Tax

During an examination of the Company’s 2009 and 2010 Mexico subsidiary financial records, local tax authority auditors determined that the
Company’s treatment of value-added tax (VAT) for purchase transactions with a certain vendor was incorrect. As a result, the tax authorities concluded
that the Company owed past VAT from 2009 -2010 along with assessed inflation, penalty and interest charges. Consequently, the Company recorded a
liability and corresponding income statement charge for the VAT inflation, penalty and interest charges. The liability included the 2009 – 2010
assessment of inflation, penalty and interest charges plus an estimated amount for the potential exposure for 2011 – 2014. The amount recorded was
not material to the Company’s results of operations. No charge was recorded for the past unpaid VAT because the Company believes the amount will
be recoverable through the normal VAT process. Depending on negotiations with Mexico’s tax authorities, the accuracy of the estimates for 2011 -
2014 and the actual amount of the past VAT that is recovered by the Company, the actual settlement could differ from the current recorded liability.  

 
 
8. POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

Defined Benefit Pension Plans

The Company sponsors various funded qualified and unfunded non-qualified defined benefit pension plans, the most significant of which cover
employees in the U.S. and U.K. locations.  The U.S. and U.K. defined benefit pension plans are frozen and service benefits are no longer being
accrued.

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost

  UNITED STATES  

(In thousands)  
Three Months Ended

June 30   
Six Months Ended

June 30  
  2015   2014   2015   2014  

Interest cost  $ 1,702  $ 1,723  $ 3,403  $ 3,446 
Expected return on plan assets   (2,393)   (2,378)   (4,786)   (4,756)
Amortization of net actuarial loss   1,149   661   2,298   1,323 
Net periodic benefit cost  $ 458  $ 6  $ 915  $ 13 
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  UNITED KINGDOM  

(In thousands)  
Three Months Ended

June 30   
Six Months Ended

June 30  
  2015   2014   2015   2014  

Interest cost  $ 198  $ 247  $ 393  $ 490 
Expected return on plan assets   (265)   (333)   (527)   (661)
Amortization of net actuarial loss   46   —   91   — 
Net periodic benefit (income) cost  $ (21)  $ (86)  $ (43)  $ (171)

 

Employer Contributions

U.S. Plans

As a result of pension funding relief provisions included in the Highway and Transportation Funding Act of 2014, the Company expects to make no
2015 contributions to the funded U.S. qualified defined benefit plans. Approximately, $185,000 is expected to be paid related to the unfunded non-
qualified plans.  As of June 30, 2015, $164,000 had been paid related to the non-qualified plans.

U.K. Plan

The Company’s United Kingdom subsidiary expects to contribute approximately $609,000 to its defined benefit pension plan in 2015.  As of June 30,
2015, $416,000 had been contributed to the plan.

 

Defined Contribution Plans

The Company sponsors retirement savings defined contribution plans that cover U.S. and U.K. employees. The Company also sponsors a qualified
profit sharing plan for its U.S. employees. The retirement savings and profit sharing defined contribution plans include a qualified plan and a non-
qualified supplemental executive plan.

Defined contribution plan expenses for the Company’s retirement savings and profit sharing plans were as follows:

(In thousands)  
Three Months Ended

June 30   
Six Months Ended

June 30  
  2015   2014   2015   2014  
Retirement savings plans  $ 1,136  $ 1,178  $ 2,320  $ 2,309 
Profit sharing plan   1,211   1,227   2,191   1,991 
Total  defined contribution expense  $ 2,347  $ 2,405  $ 4,511  $ 4,300 

 
The Company funds the obligations of its non-qualified supplemental executive defined contribution plans (supplemental plans) through a rabbi

trust. The trust comprises various mutual fund investments selected by the participants of the supplemental plans. In accordance with the accounting
guidance for rabbi trust arrangements, the assets of the trust and the obligations of the supplemental plans are reported on the Company’s consolidated
balance sheets.  The Company elected the fair value option for the mutual fund investment assets so that offsetting changes in the mutual fund values
and defined contribution plan obligations would be recorded in earnings in the same period. Therefore, the mutual funds are reported at fair value with
any subsequent changes in fair value recorded in the consolidated statements of income. The liabilities related to the supplemental plans increase (i.e.,
supplemental plan expense is recognized) when the value of the trust assets appreciates and decrease when the value of the trust assets declines (i.e.,
supplemental plan income is recognized). At June 30, 2015, the balance of the trust assets was $1,827,000, which equaled the balance of the
supplemental plan liabilities (see the long-term investments section in Note 3 for further information regarding the Company’s mutual fund assets).
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9. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Below are the computations of basic and diluted earnings per share for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014:
 
 

(In thousands, except per share amounts)  
Three Months Ended

June 30   
Six Months Ended

June 30  
  2015   2014   2015   2014  
Computation of Basic Earnings per Share                 
Net income attributable to Stepan Company  $ 16,914  $ 24,353  $ 38,184  $ 37,371 
Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding   22,742   22,763   22,731   22,768 
Basic earnings per share  $ 0.74  $ 1.07  $ 1.68  $ 1.64 
                 
Computation of Diluted Earnings per Share                 
Net income attributable to Stepan Company  $ 16,914  $ 24,353  $ 38,184  $ 37,371 
Weighted-average number of shares outstanding   22,742   22,763   22,731   22,768 
Add weighted-average net shares issuable from assumed
   exercise of options (under treasury stock method) (1)   127   158   116   170 
Add weighted-average net shares related to unvested
   stock awards (under treasury stock method)   2   10   3   10 
Weighted-average shares applicable to diluted earnings   22,871   22,931   22,850   22,948 
Diluted earnings per share  $ 0.74  $ 1.06  $ 1.67  $ 1.63 

(1) Options to purchase 91,678 and 158,888 shares of Company common stock were excluded from the computations of diluted earnings per share for the
three and six months ended June 30, 2015, respectively. Options to purchase 103,382 and 75,511 shares of Company common stock were excluded from the
computations of diluted earnings per share for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, respectively. The options’ exercise prices were greater than the
average market price for the common stock and their effect would have been antidilutive.
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10. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Changes in Company accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (AOCI) by component (net of income taxes) for the three and six months ended
June 30, 2014 and 2015, are presented below:

 

(In thousands)  

Foreign
Currency

Translation
Adjustments   

Defined
Benefit

Pension Plan
Adjustments   

Cash Flow
Hedge

Adjustments   Total  
Balance at March 31, 2014  $ (10,854)  $ (18,262)  $ 118  $ (28,998)

Other comprehensive income before reclassifications   3,742   —   —   3,742 
Amounts reclassified from AOCI   —   410   1   411 

Net current-period other comprehensive income   3,742   410   1   4,153 
Balance at June 30, 2014  $ (7,112)  $ (17,852)  $ 119  $ (24,845)
                 
Balance at March 31, 2015  $ (68,051)  $ (40,400)  $ 76  $ (108,375)

Other comprehensive income before reclassifications   5,940   —   16   5,956 
Amounts reclassified from AOCI   —   750   —   750 

Net current-period other comprehensive income   5,940   750   16   6,706 
Balance at June 30, 2015  $ (62,111)  $ (39,650)  $ 92  $ (101,669)
                 
Balance at December 31, 2013  $ (10,971)  $ (18,672)  $ 115  $ (29,528)

Other comprehensive income before reclassifications   3,859   —   —  $ 3,859 
Amounts reclassified from AOCI   —   820   4  $ 824 

Net current-period other comprehensive income   3,859   820   4   4,683 
Balance at June 30, 2014  $ (7,112)  $ (17,852)  $ 119  $ (24,845)
                 
Balance at December 31, 2014  $ (42,914)  $ (41,149)  $ 118  $ (83,945)

Other comprehensive income before reclassifications   (19,197)   —   (27)   (19,224)
Amounts reclassified from AOCI   —   1,499   1   1,500 

Net current-period other comprehensive income   (19,197)   1,499   (26)   (17,724)
Balance at June 30, 2015  $ (62,111)  $ (39,650)  $ 92  $ (101,669)

 
Information regarding the reclassifications out of AOCI for the three and six months ended 2015 and 2014, is displayed below:

 

(In thousands)

 

Amount Reclassified from AOCI (a)  
 Affected Line Item in

Consolidated Statements
of Income

AOCI Components
 Three Months Ended

June 30  
 Six Months Ended

June 30  
 

 
  2015   2014   2015   2014    

Amortization of defined benefit pension
actuarial losses

 
$ (1,195)

 
$ (661)

 
$ (2,389)

 
$ (1,323)

 
(b)

   445   251   890   503  Tax benefit
  $ (750)  $ (410)  $ (1,499)  $ (820)  Net of tax
Gains and losses on cash flow hedges:                   

Interest rate contracts  $ (5)  $ (7)  $ (10)  $ (14)  Interest, net
Foreign exchange contracts   3   3   5   5  Cost of sales

   (2)   (4)   (5)   (9)  Total before tax
   2   3   4   5  Tax benefit
  $ -  $ (1)  $ (1)  $ (4)  Net of tax
Total reclassifications for the period  $ (750)  $ (411)  $ (1,500)  $ (824)  Net of tax

 
(a) Amounts in parentheses denote expense to statement of income.
(b) This component of accumulated other comprehensive income is included in the computation of net periodic benefit cost (see Note 8 for additional

details).
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11. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Company has three reportable segments: Surfactants, Polymers and Specialty Products.  Net sales by segment for the three and six months ended
June 30, 2015 and 2014, were as follows:

 

(In thousands)  
Three Months Ended

June 30   
Six Months Ended

June 30  
  2015   2014   2015   2014  

Segment Net Sales                 
Surfactants  $ 299,743  $ 333,761  $ 630,294  $ 669,471 
Polymers   133,613   148,270   242,977   267,377 
Specialty Products   19,058   22,080   39,594   44,705 
      Total  $ 452,414  $ 504,111  $ 912,865  $ 981,553 

 
 

Segment operating income and reconciliations of segment operating income to consolidated income before income taxes for the three months and six
months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, are summarized below:

 

(In thousands)  
Three Months Ended

June 30   
Six Months Ended

June 30  
  2015   2014   2015   2014  

Segment Operating Income                 
Surfactants  $ 24,232  $ 19,239  $ 57,996  $ 37,577 
Polymers   23,429   18,444   38,214   29,270 
Specialty Products   1,522   3,550   3,766   7,571 
      Segment operating income   49,183   41,233   99,976   74,418 
Unallocated corporate expenses (1)   (20,588)   (4,319)   (36,203)   (14,981)
Consolidated operating income   28,595   36,914   63,773   59,437 
Interest expense, net   (2,869)   (3,021)   (6,923)   (5,978)
Loss from equity in joint ventures   (1,815)   (1,243)   (3,055)   (2,694)
Other, net  235   556  887   530 
Consolidated income before income
taxes  $ 24,146  $ 33,206  $ 54,682  $ 51,295 

 
(1) Unallocated corporate expenses primarily comprise corporate administrative expenses (e.g., corporate finance, legal, human resources, information

systems, deferred compensation and environmental remediation) that are not included in segment operating income and not used to evaluate segment
performance.
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12. DEBT

At June 30, 2015, and December 31, 2014, debt comprised the following: 
 
 

(In thousands)  
 Maturity

Dates
 June 30,

2015  
 December 31,

2014  
Unsecured private placement notes            
 3.86%   2019-2025  $ 100,000  $ 100,000 
 4.86%   2017-2023   65,000   65,000 
 5.88%   2016-2022   40,000   40,000 
 5.69%   2015-2018   22,857   22,857 
 6.86%   2015   4,284   4,284 
Unsecured  U.S. bank debt   2019   10,000   20,000 
Debt of foreign subsidiaries            
      Unsecured bank debt, foreign currency   2015   10,064   12,043 
      Unsecured bank term loan, foreign currency   2021   4,137   4,840 

Secured bank term loan, foreign currency   2015   278   2,723 
Secured bank debt, foreign currency   2015   3,350   1,638 
Unsecured bank debt, U.S. dollars   2015   500   546 

Total debt     $ 260,470  $ 273,931 
Less current maturities      24,826   27,034 
Long-term debt     $ 235,644  $ 246,897 

The Company has a committed $125,000,000 multi-currency revolving credit agreement that expires in July 2019.  The Company maintains
standby letters of credit under its workers’ compensation insurance agreements and for other purposes, as needed from time to time, which are issued
under the revolving credit agreement. As of June 30, 2015, the Company had outstanding letters of credit totaling $4,952,000 and outstanding
borrowing of $10,000,000 under this agreement. There was $110,048,000 available under the revolving credit agreement as of June 30, 2015.

The various loan agreements contain provisions which, among others, require maintenance of certain financial ratios and place limitations on
additional debt, investments and payment of dividends. Based on the loan agreement provisions that place limitations on dividend payments,
unrestricted retained earnings (i.e., retained earnings available for dividend distribution) were $107,400,000 and $88,684,000 at June 30, 2015 and
December 31, 2014, respectively.

On July 10, 2015, the Company completed a new $100,000,000 unsecured private placement loan. See Note 18.
 
13. OTHER, NET

Other, net in the consolidated statements of income included the following:
 

(In thousands)  
Three Months Ended

June 30   
Six Months Ended

June 30  
  2015   2014   2015   2014  

Foreign exchange gain (loss)  $ 101  $ (93)  $ 99  $ (298)
Investment income   23   117   146   273 
Realized and unrealized gains on investments   111   532   642   555 

Other, net  $ 235  $ 556  $ 887  $ 530 
 
 
 
14. SALE OF PRODUCT LINE

In January 2015, the Company sold its specialty polyurethane systems product line (kits) to J6 Polymers, LLC (J6) for cash of $3,262,000. Kits were
part of the Company’s Polymers segment and accounted for approximately $2,800,000 of the Company’s 2014 net sales. The sale of kits included
inventory as well as customer and supplier lists, formulations, manufacturing procedures and all other intellectual property associated with the
manufacturing and selling of kits. As a result of the sale, the Company recognized a pretax gain of $2,862,000 in the first quarter of 2015. The gain
was attributed to the Polymer segment. J6 is a business wholly-owned and operated by members of the immediate family of Robert J. Wood, a former
Company executive who retired from the Company in April 2014. Mr. Wood is a managing member of J6.
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15. BUSINESS RESTRUCTURING

2014 Restructuring

In the fourth quarter of 2014, a restructuring plan was approved that affected certain Company functions, principally the research and development
function and to a lesser extent product safety and compliance and plant site accounting functions (primarily affecting the Surfactants segment). The
objective of the plan was to better align staffing resources with the needs of the Company’s diversification and growth initiatives. In implementing the
plan, management offered a voluntary retirement incentive to employees of the affected functions. By December 31, 2014, 13 employees accepted the
voluntary termination incentive. As a result, the Company recognized a $1,722,000 charge against income in the fourth quarter ended December 31,
2014. Although the Company may realize some short-term cost savings from the action, the restructuring was not considered a cost savings initiative
but rather an opportunity to create some staffing flexibility to reposition roles to meet changing business needs. The severance payouts were completed
in the three-month period ended June 30, 2015. Other costs for the restructuring were not material.

Below is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the restructuring liability:
 

(In thousands)  
Severance
Expense  

Restructuring liability at December 31, 2014  $ 1,722 
Amounts paid   (1,435)
Foreign currency translation   (23)
Restructuring liability at March 31, 2015  $ 264 
Amounts paid   (260)
Expense adjustment   (9)
Foreign currency translation   5 
Restructuring liability at June 30, 2015  $ — 

2013 Restructuring

In the fourth quarter of 2013, the Company recorded a $1,040,000 restructuring charge for estimated severance expense related to an approved plan to
reduce future costs and increase operating efficiencies by consolidating a portion of its North American Surfactants manufacturing operations (part of
the Surfactants reportable segment). In the third quarter of 2014, the Company shut down certain production areas at its Canadian manufacturing site.
Production in those areas was moved to other U.S. plants. This consolidation resulted in the elimination of 16 North American positions. Other
restructuring costs for this plan were not material.

Below is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the restructuring liability:
 

(In thousands)  Severance
Expense  

Restructuring liability at December 31, 2013  $ 1,040 
Amounts paid in 2014   (420)
Foreign currency translation in 2014   (57)
Restructuring liability at December 31, 2014  $ 563 
Amounts paid   (338)
Foreign currency translation   (39)
Restructuring liability at March 31, 2015  $ 186 
Amounts paid   (96)
Foreign currency translation   4 
Restructuring liability at June 30, 2015  $ 94 

In connection with the planned business restructuring, the Company reduced the useful lives of the manufacturing assets in the affected areas of
the Canadian plant. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, the Company recognized $918,000 and $1,825,000, respectively, of accelerated
depreciation resulting from the reduction of asset useful lives. The depreciation expense was included in the cost of sales line of the consolidated
statement of income.
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16. ACQUISITION

On June 15, 2015, the Company closed on the previously announced agreement with Procter & Gamble do Brasil S.A. (P&G Brazil) to acquire
(through the Company’s Brazilian subsidiary) P&G Brazil’s sulfonation production facility in Bahia, Brazil. The facility is located in northeastern
Brazil and has 30,000 metric tons of surfactants capacity. The acquisition will be included in Latin American operations of the Company’s Surfactants
segment. The acquired business complements the Company’s existing Vespasiano, Brazil, plant and provides opportunities to serve growing
northeastern Brazil. The purchase price was cash of $5,133,000. The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination and, accordingly, the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed as part of the acquisition were measured and recorded at their estimated fair values. The purchase included
property, plant and equipment valued at $6,007,000 and the assumption of liabilities valued at $874,000.  No intangibles or goodwill were acquired in
the business combination. The Company continues to evaluate the purchase price allocation, including the estimated fair values of the assets acquired
and liabilities assumed, which may result in adjustments to amounts currently recorded. Other acquisition-related expenses were not material. Post-
acquisition financial results for the acquired business were insignificant. Pro forma financial information has not been included because revenues and
earnings of the Company would not have been significantly different than reported had the acquisition date been January 1, 2014.

 
 

17. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In April 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2014-08, Presentation of Financial
Statements (Topic 205) and Property, Plant, and Equipment (Topic 360):  Reporting Discontinued Operations and Disclosures of Disposals of
Components of an Entity.  The update amends the definition of a discontinued operation, changes the criteria for reporting discontinued operations and
requires expanded disclosures for discontinued operations and new disclosures about disposal transactions that do not meet the discontinued operations
criteria.  Under the new guidance, a discontinued operation is defined as a disposal of a component or group of components that is disposed of or is
classified as held for sale and represents a strategic shift that has or will have a major effect on an entity's operations and financial results.  The
requirements of ASU No. 2014-08 are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2014, with early
adoption permitted. This ASU did not have an effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). The standard, which is the result of a
joint project by the FASB and the International Accounting Standards Board, outlines a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting
for revenue arising from contracts with customers. In addition, the ASU requires expanded disclosures about revenue recognition that enable the users
of the financial statements to understand the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers.
ASU No. 2014-09 supersedes most of the previous revenue recognition guidance. For public entities, the new guidance is effective for annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim periods within that reporting period (although on July 15, 2015, the FASB
confirmed its earlier proposal to defer the effective date for public entities to annual periods beginning after December, 15, 2017; a new ASU is being
finalized). An entity may use either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach to adopt the requirements of the new standard. The
Company continues the process of determining the effects, if any, that adoption of ASU No. 2014-09 will have on Company financial position, results
of operations and cash flows.

In January 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-01, Simplifying Income Statement Presentation by Eliminating the Concept of Extraordinary
Items, which amends Subtopic 225-20, Income Statement – Extraordinary and Unusual Items, of the Accounting Standards Codification. The update,
which is part of FASB’s initiative to reduce complexity of accounting standards, eliminates the US GAAP concept of extraordinary items. The
amendments in this update are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2015. A reporting
entity may apply the amendments prospectively or retrospectively to all prior periods presented in the financial statements. Early adoption is permitted
provided that the guidance is applied from the beginning of the fiscal year of adoption. This ASU is not expected to have an effect on the Company’s
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In February 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-02, Consolidation (Topic 810): Amendments to the Consolidation Analysis. The
amendments in this update affect reporting entities that are required to evaluate whether they should consolidate certain legal entities. All legal entities
are subject to reevaluation under the revised consolidation model. Specifically, the amendments: 1) modify the evaluation of whether limited
partnerships and similar legal entities are variable interest entities (VIEs) or voting interest entities; 2) eliminate the presumption that a general partner
should consolidate a limited partnership; 3) affect the consolidation analysis of reporting entities that are involved with VIEs, particularly those that
have fee arrangements and related party relationships; and 4) provide a scope exception from consolidation guidance for reporting entities with
interests in legal entities that are required to comply with or operate in accordance with certain Investment Company Act of 1940 requirements for
registered money market funds. The amendments in ASU No. 2015-02 are effective for public business entities for fiscal years, and for interim periods
within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2015. A reporting entity

18



 

may apply the amendments in this update using a modified retrospective approach by recording a cumulative-effect adjustment to equity as of the
beginning of the fiscal year of adoption. A reporting entity also may apply the amendments retrospectively. Early adoption is permitted. Under the
assumption that the Company’s organizational structure remains as it is currently, adoption of ASU No. 2015-02 is not expected to have an effect on
the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

 
In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-03, Interest – Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30): Simplifying the Presentation of Debt

Issuance Costs. The amendments in this update change the presentation of debt issuance costs in financial statements. Under this ASU, an entity will
be required to present debt issuance costs in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the related debt liability rather than as an asset. Amortization
of the costs is to be reported as interest expense. The guidance in ASU No. 2015-03 is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal
years, beginning after December 15, 2015. Early adoption is allowed for financial statements that have not been previously issued. The new guidance
is to be applied retrospectively to all prior periods. Upon adoption of ASU No. 2015-03, the Company will reclassify its debt issuance costs from the
other non-current assets line of the consolidated balance sheet to the long-term, and where applicable, current maturities of long-term debt lines.
Adoption of the update is not expected to have an effect on the Company’s results of operations or cash flows.

 
In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-05, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other – Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40): Customer’s

Accounting for Fees Paid in a Cloud Computing Arrangement.  This ASU provides guidance to customers about whether a cloud computing
arrangement includes a software license. If a cloud computing arrangement includes a software license, then the customer should account for the
software license element of the arrangement consistent with the acquisition of other software licenses. If a cloud computing arrangement does not
include a software license, the customer should account for the arrangement as a service contract. The amendments in ASU No. 2015-05 will be
effective for annual periods, including interim periods within those annual periods, beginning after December 15, 2015. Early adoption is permitted.
An entity can elect to adopt the amendments either prospectively to all arrangements entered into or materially modified after the effective date or
retrospectively. The Company will begin the process of determining the effects, if any, that adoption of ASU No. 2015-05 will have on the Company’s
financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

 
18. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
 

On July 10, 2015, the Company completed a new $100,000,000 unsecured private placement loan. This loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 3.95%
with interest to be paid semi-annually and with equal annual principal payments beginning on July 10, 2021, and continuing through final maturity on
July 10, 2027.  The proceeds of this loan will be used primarily for capital expenditures, to pay down existing debt in accordance with normal
payment schedules and for other corporate purposes. This loan agreement requires the maintenance of certain financial ratios and covenants that are
substantially identical to the Company’s existing long-term debt and customary events of default.
 

In July 2015, the Company signed a long-term supply agreement with The Sun Products Corporation (SUN).  Under this agreement the
Company will supply SUN's anionic surfactant requirements for laundry in North America.  The agreement is expected to begin in the third quarter of
2015. The Company will service this demand from its existing North American manufacturing assets. The supply agreement was made possible due
to the strength of the Company’s sulfonation expertise and North American supply network that provide SUN with multiple source locations and
increased surfactant flexibility. This agreement should enable the Company to significantly improve its North American capacity utilization. Separate
from the supply agreement, the Company also reached an agreement to purchase select chemical manufacturing assets from SUN's Pasadena, Texas
manufacturing site.  The sale is expected to close in the third quarter and is subject to customary closing conditions. As part of this agreement, the
Company also received an exclusive two-month real estate purchase option on SUN's property located in Pasadena, Texas. The Company intends to
redeploy assets as needed to reduce future capital expenditures. The Company is evaluating alternatives for the use of the land and will determine
whether to exercise the purchase option on the land.
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Item 2 - Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following is management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) of certain significant factors that have affected the Company’s financial condition and
results of operations during the interim period included in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements.

The matters discussed in the following discussion and analysis include forward-looking statements that are subject to certain risks, uncertainties and
assumptions.  Such forward-looking statements are intended to be identified in this document by the words, “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “expect,”
“intend,” “may,” “objective,” “outlook,” “plan,” “project,” “possible,” “potential,” “should” and similar expressions.  Actual results may vary materially.

Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made, and the Company does not undertake any obligation to update them to reflect
changes that occur after that date.  Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially include the items described in Item 1A of the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014.
 
Overview

The Company produces and sells intermediate chemicals that are used in a wide variety of applications worldwide. The overall business comprises three
reportable segments:

· Surfactants – Surfactants, which accounted for 69 percent of consolidated net sales in the first half of 2015, are principal ingredients in consumer and
industrial cleaning products such as detergents for washing clothes, dishes, carpets, floors and walls, as well as shampoos and body washes. Other
applications include fabric softeners, germicidal quaternary compounds, lubricating ingredients, emulsifiers for spreading agricultural products and
industrial applications such as latex systems, plastics and composites. Surfactants are manufactured at six North American sites (five in the U.S. and
one in Canada), three European sites (United Kingdom, France and Germany), three Latin American sites (Mexico, Brazil and Colombia) and two
Asian sites (Philippines and Singapore). The Company also holds a 50 percent ownership interest in a joint venture, TIORCO, LLC (TIORCO), that
markets chemical solutions for increasing the production of crude oil and natural gas from existing fields (enhanced oil recovery or EOR). The joint
venture is accounted for under the equity method, and its financial results are excluded from surfactant segment operating results. Sales and related
profits of the Company’s surfactants to enhanced oil recovery customers are included in surfactants segment results.

· Polymers – Polymers, which accounted for 27 percent of consolidated net sales in the first half of 2015, include polyurethane polyols, polyester resins
and phthalic anhydride.  Polyurethane polyols are used in the manufacture of rigid foam for thermal insulation in the construction industry and are also
a base raw material for coatings, adhesives, sealants and elastomers (collectively CASE products) and flexible foams. Polyester resins, which include
liquid and powdered products, are used in CASE and polyurethane systems house applications. CASE, polyester resins and flexible foam are
collectively referred to as specialty polyols. Phthalic anhydride is used in unsaturated polyester resins, alkyd resins and plasticizers for applications in
construction materials and components of automotive, boating and other consumer products. In addition, the Company uses phthalic anhydride
internally in the production of polyols.  In the U.S., polyurethane polyols and phthalic anhydride are manufactured at the Company’s Millsdale,
Illinois, site and specialty polyols are manufactured at the Company’s Columbus, Georgia, site. In Europe, polyols are manufactured at the Company’s
subsidiary in Germany and specialty polyols are manufactured at the Company’s Poland subsidiary. In Asia, polyols are currently toll produced for the
Company’s 80-percent owned joint venture in Nanjing, China. The Company is building a new plant in Nanjing that is expected to be operational in
the first half of 2016.

· Specialty Products – Specialty products, which accounted for 4 percent of consolidated net sales in the first half of 2015, include flavors, emulsifiers
and solubilizers used in food, flavoring, nutritional supplement and pharmaceutical applications. Specialty products are primarily manufactured at the
Company’s Maywood, New Jersey, site and, in some instances, at outside contractors.

 
 
Business Acquisition

On June 15, 2015, the Company closed on the previously announced agreement with Procter & Gamble do Brasil S.A. (P&G Brazil) to acquire P&G Brazil’s
sulfonation production facility in Bahia, Brazil. The facility is located in northeastern Brazil and has 30,000 metric tons of surfactants capacity. The
acquisition will be included in Latin American operations of the Company’s Surfactants segment. The acquired business complements the Company’s
existing Vespasiano, Brazil, plant and provides opportunities to serve growing northeastern Brazil. See Note 16 to the notes to condensed consolidated
financial statements for further information.
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Deferred Compensation Plans

The accounting for the Company’s deferred compensation plans can cause period-to-period fluctuations in Company expenses and profits. Compensation
expense results when the values of Company common stock and mutual fund investment assets held for the plans increase, and compensation income results
when the values of Company common stock and mutual fund investment assets decline. The pretax effect of all deferred compensation-related activities
(including realized and unrealized gains and losses on the mutual fund assets held to fund the deferred compensation obligations) and the income statement
line items in which the effects of the activities were recorded are displayed in the following table:
 

  Income (Expense)       
  For the Three Months       
  Ended June 30       
(In millions)  2015   2014   Change   
Deferred Compensation (Administrative expense)  $ (6.6)  $ 5.5  $ (12.1) (1)

Realized/Unrealized Gains on Investments (Other, net)   0.1   0.5   (0.4)  
Investment Income (Other, net)   —   —   —  
Pretax Income Effect  $ (6.5)  $ 6.0  $ (12.5)  

 
 

  Income (Expense)       
  For the Six Months       
  Ended June 30       
(In millions)  2015   2014   Change   
Deferred Compensation (Administrative expense)  $ (8.2)  $ 5.7  $ (13.9) (1)

Realized/Unrealized Gains on Investments (Other, net)   0.6   0.5   0.1  
Investment Income (Other, net)   0.1   0.2   (0.1)  
Pretax Income Effect  $ (7.5)  $ 6.4  $ (13.9)  

 
(1) See the Corporate Expenses section of this management’s discussion and analysis for details regarding the quarter-over-quarter change in deferred

compensation expense.

Effects of Foreign Currency Translation

The Company’s foreign subsidiaries transact business and report financial results in their respective local currencies. As a result, foreign subsidiary income
statements are translated into U.S. dollars at average foreign exchange rates appropriate for the reporting period. Because foreign exchange rates fluctuate
against the U.S. dollar over time, foreign currency translation affects period-to-period comparisons of financial statement items (i.e., because foreign
exchange rates fluctuate, similar period-to-period local currency results for a foreign subsidiary may translate into different U.S. dollar results). The following
table presents the effects that foreign currency translation had on the period-over-period changes in consolidated net sales and various income line items for
the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014:
 

         (Decrease)  
              Due to Foreign  
  Three Months Ended June 30   Increase   Currency  
(In millions)  2015   2014   (Decrease)   Translation  
Net Sales  $ 452.4  $ 504.1  $ (51.7)  $ (33.6)
Gross Profit   79.5   71.6   7.9   (5.1)
Operating Income   28.6   36.9   (8.3)   (3.1)
Pretax Income   24.1   33.2   (9.1)   (2.6)

 
 

         (Decrease)  
              Due to Foreign  
  Six Months Ended June 30   Increase   Currency  
(In millions)  2015   2014   (Decrease)   Translation  
Net Sales  $ 912.9  $ $981.6  $ (68.7)  $ (63.2)
Gross Profit   156.0   134.6   21.4   (10.0)
Operating Income   63.8   59.4   4.4   (6.1)
Pretax Income   54.7   51.3   3.4   (5.1)
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Three Months Ended June 30, 2015 and 2014

Summary

Net income attributable to the Company for the second quarter of 2015 declined 31 percent quarter over quarter to $16.9 million, or $0.74 per diluted share,
from $24.4 million, or $1.06 per diluted share, for the second quarter of 2014. Below is a summary discussion of the major factors leading to the quarter-over-
quarter changes in net sales, profits and expenses.  A detailed discussion of segment operating performance for the second quarter of 2015 follows the
summary.

Consolidated net sales declined $51.7 million, or 10 percent, between quarters. The decrease resulted from the unfavorable effects of foreign currency
translation and from lower selling prices, which had negative effects of $33.6 million and $24.9 million, respectively, on the quarter-over-quarter net sales
change. The unfavorable foreign currency translation effect reflected a stronger U.S. dollar against all currencies for countries where the Company has foreign
operations.  The decreased selling prices were primarily attributable to lower raw material costs. Sales volume increased one percent, which had a $6.8
million favorable impact on the change in net sales. The Surfactants and Polymers segments accounted for the consolidated sales volume improvement,
growing one percent and three percent, respectively. Sales volumes for the Specialty Products segment declined seven percent.

Operating income for the second quarter of 2015 declined $8.3 million, or 23 percent, from operating income reported for the same period of last year.
Increased deferred compensation expense and the effects of foreign currency translation negatively affected the quarter-over-quarter operating income change
by $12.1 million and $3.1 million, respectively. Gross profit increased $7.9 million, or 11 percent, largely due to improved results for Surfactants and
Polymers.

Operating expenses increased $16.2 million, or 47 percent, between quarters. The effects of foreign currency translation reduced the quarter-over-
quarter operating expense increase by $2.1 million. The following summarizes the changes in the individual income statement line items that comprise the
Company’s operating expenses:

· Administrative expenses increased $15.0 million, or 166 percent, quarter over quarter due to increases for deferred compensation ($12.1 million),
fringe benefit ($1.0 million), consulting ($0.9 million) and talent acquisition ($0.7 million) expenses. A second quarter 2015 increase in the value
of Company common stock compared to a second quarter 2014 decrease in the value of Company common stock led to the increase in deferred
compensation expense (see the ‘Overview’ and ‘Corporate Expenses’ sections of this MD&A for further details). Higher incentive-based
compensation (i.e., bonus, profit sharing and stock-based compensation) and group insurance costs accounted for the increase in fringe benefit
expenses. The increase in consulting expenses was primarily related to outside advisory fees for services supporting the Company’s ongoing
initiative (referred to as ‘DRIVE’ within the Company) to improve efficiency across the Company’s global organization. The effects of foreign
currency translation reduced the quarter-over-quarter operating expense increase by $1.0 million.

· Selling expenses increased $0.8 million, or six percent, quarter over quarter largely due to higher fringe benefit ($1.0 million) and bad debt ($0.4
million) expenses.  Higher incentive-based compensation and group insurance costs accounted for the increase in fringe benefit expenses. The
increase in bad debt expense reflected an increase in the allowance for uncollectible accounts for a high-risk customer. The effects of foreign
currency translation reduced the quarter-over-quarter operating expense increase by $0.7 million.

· Research, development and technical service (R&D) expenses increased $0.5 million, or four percent, quarter over quarter largely due to higher
incentive-based compensation and group insurance expenses. The effects of foreign currency translation reduced the quarter-over-quarter
operating expense increase by $0.4 million.

The loss from the Company’s 50-percent equity joint venture (TIORCO) increased $0.6 million quarter over quarter principally due to higher expenses
associated with restructuring charges and to lower technical service income.

Other, net was $0.2 million of income for the second quarter of 2015 compared to $0.6 million of income for the same period of 2014. Investment
income (including realized and unrealized gains and losses) for the Company’s deferred compensation and supplemental defined contribution mutual fund
assets was $0.1 million in the second quarter of 2015 compared to $0.6 million in last year’s second quarter. Additionally, the Company reported foreign
exchange gains of $0.1 million in the second quarter of 2015 compared to less than $0.1 million of loss in the second quarter of 2014.

The effective tax rate was 29.8 percent for the second quarter of 2015 compared to 26.6 percent for the second quarter of 2014.  The increase was
primarily attributable to an unfavorable non-recurring tax charge related to a foreign income tax audit recorded in the second quarter of 2015 and a favorable
non-recurring tax benefit related to a foreign transfer pricing adjustment recorded in the second quarter of 2014. The effective tax rates for the second quarter
of 2015 and 2014 do not include the impact of the U.S. federal research and development credit.  The credit has not yet been re-enacted in 2015, and in 2014
the research and development credit was enacted in the fourth quarter.
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Segment Results
 

  For the Three Months Ended          
(In thousands)  June 30,   June 30,      Percent  
Net Sales  2015   2014   (Decrease)   Change  
Surfactants  $ 299,743  $ 333,761  $ (34,018)   -10 
Polymers   133,613   148,270   (14,657)   -10 
Specialty Products   19,058   22,080   (3,022)   -14 
Total Net Sales  $ 452,414  $ 504,111  $ (51,697)   -10 

 
  For the Three Months Ended          
(In thousands)  June 30,   June 30,   Increase   Percent  
Operating Income  2015   2014   (Decrease)   Change  
Surfactants  $ 24,232  $ 19,239  $ 4,993   +26 
Polymers   23,429   18,444   4,985   +27 
Specialty Products   1,522   3,550   (2,028)   -57 

Segment Operating Income  $ 49,183  $ 41,233  $ 7,950   +19 
Corporate Expenses, Excluding Deferred Compensation  $ 14,015  $ 9,736  $ 4,279   +44 
Deferred Compensation Expense (Income)   6,573   (5,417)   11,990   NM 

Total Corporate Expenses  $ 20,588  $ 4,319  $ 16,269   +377 
Total Operating Income  $ 28,595  $ 36,914  $ (8,319)   -23 

 

Surfactants

Surfactants net sales for the second quarter of 2015 declined $34.0 million, or 10 percent, from net sales for the second quarter of 2014. Sales volume
increased one percent between years, which had a $3.1 million positive effect on the quarter-over-quarter net sales change. Foreign currency translation and
lower selling prices had a $24.0 million and $13.1 million negative effect, respectively, on the net sales change. Compared to the year-ago quarter, the U.S.
dollar was stronger against all currencies of the segment’s foreign operations. Lower costs for major raw materials led to the decreases in selling prices. A
quarter-over-quarter comparison of net sales by region follows:
 

  For the Three Months Ended        
  June 30,   June 30,      Percent  
(In thousands)  2015   2014   (Decrease)   Change  
North America  $ 184,748  $ 203,003  $ (18,255)   -9 
Europe   63,269   72,754   (9,485)   -13 
Latin America   36,702   42,587   (5,885)   -14 
Asia   15,024   15,417   (393)   -3 

Total Surfactants Segment  $ 299,743  $ 333,761  $ (34,018)   -10 
 

Net sales for North American operations declined nine percent due to decreased selling prices, a two percent decrease in sales volume and the
unfavorable effects of foreign currency translation, which accounted for $11.9 million, $4.6 million and $1.8 million, respectively, of the net sales decline.
The average unit selling price declined six percent quarter over quarter, reflecting decreased raw material costs. Decreased sales volumes of products used in
oil field, biodiesel and household, industrial and institutional (HI&I) applications accounted for most of the sales decline. These decreases were partially
offset by increased sales volumes of products used in agricultural chemical, laundry and cleaning and personal care applications. The foreign currency effect
reflected a stronger U.S. dollar relative to the Canadian dollar.

Net sales for European operations declined 13 percent quarter over quarter. Sales volume was up nine percent, resulting in a $6.7 million quarter-over-
quarter increase in net sales. The sales volume impact was more than offset by the unfavorable effects of foreign currency translation ($11.9 million). In
addition, selling prices declined five percent, which negatively affected the quarter-over-quarter change in net sales by $4.3 million. An increase in sales of
laundry and cleaning and agricultural chemical products, due to stronger quarter-over-quarter demand from existing customers and new business, led to the
improvement in sales volume. A stronger U.S. dollar against the European euro and British pound sterling led to the foreign currency translation result. The
reduced selling prices primarily resulted from lower raw material costs for some major raw materials.

Net sales for Latin American operations declined 14 percent due to a $10.2 million unfavorable effect of foreign currency translation. A five percent
increase in sales volume and higher selling prices offset the foreign currency translation impact by $2.3 million and $2.0 million, respectively. Higher sales
volume for Brazil operations accounted for the increased Latin American sales
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volume. The foreign currency translation effect resulted from the quarter-over-quarter weakening of the Brazilian real and Colombian and Mexican pesos
against the U.S. dollar.

Net sales for Asian operations declined three percent primarily due to a seven percent decrease in sales volume.

Surfactants operating income for the second quarter of 2015 increased $5.0 million, or 26 percent, over operating income for the second quarter of
2014.  Gross profit increased $5.3 million, primarily on improved results for North American operations. The effects of foreign currency translation reduced
Surfactants quarter-over-quarter gross profit increase by $3.8 million. Operating expenses increased $0.3 million, or one percent. Quarter-over-quarter
comparisons of gross profit by region and total segment operating expenses and operating income follow:
 

  For the Three Months Ended        
  June 30,   June 30,   Increase   Percent  
(In thousands)  2015   2014   (Decrease)   Change  
Gross Profit                 
North America  $ 29,964  $ 23,357  $ 6,607   +28 
Europe   6,646   7,024   (378)   -5 
Latin America   5,742   4,739   1,003   +21 
Asia   3,771   5,726   (1,955)   -34 

Surfactants Segment Gross Profit  $ 46,123  $ 40,846  $ 5,277   +13 
Operating Expenses   21,891   21,607   284   +1 
Operating Income  $ 24,232  $ 19,239  $ 4,993   +26 

 
North American gross profit increased 28 percent between quarters due to improved sales margins that more than offset the effect of the two percent

decrease in sales volume. The favorable resolution of a previously recorded customer claim also contributed to the higher gross profit. The improved sales
margin reflected an improved sales mix and lower raw material and transportation costs. Last year’s second quarter included additional transportation costs
due to production issues at the Anaheim, California, plant that resulted in shifting production to other Company locations.  Second quarter 2014 gross profit
also included $0.9 million of accelerated depreciation related to the Company’s Canadian plant restructuring that was approved in the fourth quarter of 2013.

Gross profit for European operations declined five percent quarter over quarter primarily due to a $1.5 million unfavorable impact of foreign currency
translation that more than offset the effects of the nine percent sales volume increase and sales margin improvements.

Gross profit for Latin American operations increased 21 percent despite a $1.9 million unfavorable effect of foreign currency translation. The gross
profit improvement resulted from a more profitable mix of sales, higher selling prices and the five percent increase in sales volume.

Asia gross profit declined 34 percent largely due to the seven percent decrease in sales volume and a less favorable mix of sales.

Operating expenses for the Surfactants segment increased $0.3 million, or one percent, between quarters. The increase between years included higher
incentive-based compensation and group insurance expenses offset by the effects of foreign currency translation.

24



 
 
 
Polymers

Polymers net sales for the second quarter of 2015 declined $14.7 million, or 10 percent, from net sales for the second quarter of 2014.  Sales volume was up
three percent between quarters, which had a $4.4 million favorable effect on the net sales change between quarters. Lower selling prices and the effects of
foreign currency translation negatively impacted the quarter-over-quarter change in net sales by $10.4 million and $8.7 million, respectively. Quarter-over-
quarter raw material cost declines led to the decrease in selling prices. The foreign currency translation effect reflected a stronger U.S. dollar against the
currencies of the segment’s foreign operations. A quarter-over-quarter comparison of net sales by region follows:
 

  For the Three Months Ended        
  June 30,   June 30,      Percent  
(In thousands)  2015   2014   (Decrease)   Change  
North America  $ 87,564  $ 94,022  $ (6,458)   -7 
Europe   38,929   46,105   (7,176)   -16 
Asia and Other   7,120   8,143   (1,023)   -13 

Total Polymers Segment  $ 133,613  $ 148,270  $ (14,657)   -10 
 

Net sales for North American operations declined seven percent. Sales volume was up less than one percent between quarters as rigid polyol volume
improvement (up five percent) was largely offset by volume declines for specialty polyols (down 11 percent). Lower selling prices, driven by lower raw
material costs, had a $6.9 million unfavorable impact on the quarter-over-quarter net sales change.

Net sales for European operations declined 16 percent despite an eight percent improvement in sales volume. The effect of the increased sales volume
was more than offset by an $8.5 million unfavorable impact of foreign currency translation, resulting from a stronger U.S. dollar relative to the European
euro. The sales volume gain reflected seven percent and nine percent increases, respectively, for rigid polyol and specialty polyol products.

Net sales for Asia and Other operations declined 13 percent quarter over quarter due to a decline in selling prices precipitated by lower raw material
costs. Sales volume increased five percent due to higher sales volume to customers in China and other Asian countries. The Company continues to supply
customers in China and other parts of Asia with product imported from other Company plants and local manufacturers. This outsourcing is expected to
continue until construction of the new plant in China is complete, which is currently projected to be in the first half of 2016.

Polymer operating income for the second quarter of 2015 increased $5.0 million, or 27 percent, over operating income for the second quarter of 2014. Gross
profit increased $6.3 million quarter-over-quarter due to a lower raw material inventory cost position and the three percent increase in sales volume partially
offset by a $1.3 million unfavorable effect of foreign currency translation. Operating expenses increased $1.3 million, or 19 percent. Quarter-over-quarter
comparisons of gross profit by region and total segment operating expenses and operating income follow:
 

  For the Three Months Ended        
  June 30,   June 30,   Increase   Percent  
(In thousands)  2015   2014   (Decrease)   Change  
Gross Profit                 
North America  $ 25,437  $ 17,773  $ 7,664   +43 
Europe   5,367   6,794   (1,427)   -21 
Asia and Other   643   589   54   +9 

Polymers Segment Gross Profit  $ 31,447  $ 25,156  $ 6,291   +25 
Operating Expenses   8,018   6,712   1,306   +19 
Operating Income  $ 23,429  $ 18,444  $ 4,985   +27 

 
Gross profit for North American operations increased 43 percent quarter over quarter primarily due to a lower raw material inventory cost position. In
addition, 2015 gross profit included the recognition of $1.0 million of previously deferred revenue due to the satisfaction of contractual requirements.

Gross profit for European operations declined 21 percent primarily due to a $1.2 million unfavorable impact of foreign currency translation. The effect
of higher sales volume was offset by higher manufacturing costs.

The increase in gross profit for Asia and Other operations was due to the five percent increase in sale volume.
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Operating expenses for the polymers segment increased $1.3 million, or 19 percent, quarter over quarter. Higher incentive-based pay, group insurance
and bad debt reserve expenses accounted for most of the operating expense increase. The bad debt reserve increase reflected an increase in the allowance for
uncollectible accounts for a high-risk customer. In addition, operating expenses in China, where a new plant is being constructed, increased $0.5 million
quarter over quarter. Foreign exchange translation reduced the quarter-over-quarter operating expense increase by $0.4 million.

Specialty Products

Net sales for the second quarter of 2015 declined $3.0 million, or 14 percent, from net sales for the second quarter of 2014. A seven percent decrease in sales
volume, the unfavorable effects of foreign currency translation and lower selling prices accounted for $1.5 million, $0.8 million and $0.7 million,
respectively, of the quarter-over-quarter net sales decrease. All product lines contributed to the sales volume decline. Selling prices were lower largely due to
competitive pressures for nutritional supplement products. Operating income decreased $2.0 million, or 57 percent, quarter over quarter due to lower sales
volume and selling prices, higher raw material costs and an unfavorable mix of sales due to the timing of pharmaceutical orders.

Corporate Expenses

Corporate expenses, which comprise operating expenses that are not allocated to the reportable segments, increased $16.3 million to $20.6 million for the
second quarter of 2015 from $4.3 million for the second quarter of 2014. Large contributors to the quarter-over-quarter increase in corporate expenses
included higher deferred compensation ($12.0 million), fringe benefit ($1.6 million), consulting ($0.9 million) and talent acquisition ($0.7 million) expenses.
Deferred compensation was $6.6 million of expense for the second quarter of 2015 compared to $5.5 million of income for the second quarter of 2014. The
change between quarters was primarily attributable to a $12.45 per share increase in the value of Company common stock in the second quarter of 2015
compared to an $11.70 per share decrease for the same quarter of last year. The following table presents the quarter-end Company common stock market
prices used in the computation of deferred compensation expense:
 

  2015   2014  
  6/30   3/31   6/30   3/31  
Company Stock Price  $ 54.11  $ 41.66  $ 52.86  $ 64.56 

 
Fringe benefit expenses were higher between quarters principally due to increased incentive-based compensation (both short- and long-term) and

group insurance expenses. The increase in consulting expenses was primarily related to the Company’s ongoing DRIVE initiative to improve efficiency
across the Company’s global organization.
 
 
Six Months Ended June 30, 2015 and 2014

Summary

Net income attributable to the Company for the first half of 2015 increased two percent year over year to $38.2 million, or $1.67 per diluted share, from $37.4
million, or $1.63 per diluted share, for the first half of 2014. Below is a summary discussion of the major factors leading to the year-over-year changes in net
sales, profits and expenses.  A detailed discussion of segment operating performance for the first half of 2015 follows the summary.

Consolidated net sales declined $68.7 million, or seven percent, between years. The decrease was attributable to the unfavorable effects of foreign
currency translation and lower selling prices, which accounted for $63.2 million and $23.7 million, respectively, of the year-over-year net sales change. The
unfavorable foreign currency translation effect reflected a stronger U.S. dollar against all currencies of countries where the Company has foreign
operations.  A two percent increase in sales volume favorably affected the net sales change by $18.2 million. The Surfactants and Polymers segments
accounted for the consolidated sales volume improvement, growing one percent and four percent, respectively. Sales volumes for the specialty products
segment declined five percent.

Operating income for the first half of 2015 increased $4.3 million, or seven percent, over operating income reported for the same period of 2014.
Increased deferred compensation expense and the effects of foreign currency translation negatively affected the year-over-year operating income change by
$13.9 million and $6.1 million, respectively. Included in the 2015 results was a $2.9 million gain on the divestiture of the Company’s specialty polyurethane
systems product line (part of the Polymers segment). See Note 14 to the condensed consolidated financial statements for additional information regarding the
sale. Gross profit increased $21.3 million, or 16 percent, due to improved results for Surfactants and Polymers.

Operating expenses increased $19.9 million, or 26 percent, between years. The favorable effects of foreign currency translation reduced the year-over-
year operating expense increase by $3.9 million. The following summarizes the changes in the individual income statement line items that comprise the
Company’s operating expenses:
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· Administrative expenses increased $19.9 million, or 85 percent, year over year due to increases for deferred compensation ($13.9 million),

consulting ($2.3 million), fringe benefits ($1.5 million), talent acquisition ($0.7 million) and environmental remediation ($0.6 million) expenses.
In addition, expenses are up $0.7 million in China, where a new plant is being constructed. A 2015 first half increase in the value of Company
common stock compared to a 2014 first half decrease led to the increase in deferred compensation expense (see the ‘Overview’ and ‘Corporate
Expenses’ sections of this MD&A for further details). The increase in consulting expenses was related to the Company’s ongoing DRIVE
initiative. Higher incentive-based compensation and group insurance costs accounted for the increase in fringe benefit expenses. A 2015 first
quarter increase in the remediation liability for the Company’s Maywood, New Jersey, site led to the increase in environmental remediation
expense. The effects of foreign currency translation reduced the year-over-year operating expense increase by $1.7 million.

· Selling expenses declined $0.4 million, or one percent, year over year due to a $1.6 million favorable foreign currency translation effect. A $1.4
million increase in fringe benefits, notably incentive-based compensation and group insurance, partially offset the translation impact.

· R&D expenses increased $0.3 million, or one percent, year over year primarily due to higher fringe benefit expenses ($1.6 million) partially
offset by the favorable effects of foreign currency translation ($0.6 million) and reduced salary expense ($0.5 million) attributable to the
voluntary retirement program associated with the Company’s 2014 restructuring.

 
The loss from the Company’s 50-percent equity joint venture (TIORCO) increased $0.4 million year over year principally due to restructuring

charges.
 

Other, net was $0.9 million of income for the first half of 2015 compared to $0.5 million of income for the first half of 2014. The Company
reported foreign exchange gains of $0.1 million in the first half of 2015 versus $0.3 million of losses for the same period of last year. Investment income
(including realized and unrealized gains and losses) for the Company’s deferred compensation and supplemental defined contribution mutual fund assets was
essentially unchanged between years.

 
The effective tax rate was 30.1 percent for the first half of 2015 compared to 27.1 percent for the first half of 2014.  The increase was attributable to

an unfavorable non-recurring tax charge related to a foreign income tax audit recorded in the second quarter of 2015 and a favorable non-recurring tax benefit
related to a foreign transfer pricing adjustment recorded in the second quarter of 2014.  The increase was also attributable to changes in the geographical mix
of income. The effective tax rates for the first half of 2015 and 2014 do not include the impact of the U.S. federal research and development credit.  The credit
has not yet been re-enacted in 2015, and in 2014 the research and development credit was enacted in the fourth quarter.

Segment Results
 

  For the Six Months Ended          
(In thousands)  June 30,   June 30,      Percent  
Net Sales  2015   2014   (Decrease)   Change  
Surfactants  $ 630,294  $ 669,471  $ (39,177)   -6 
Polymers   242,977   267,377   (24,400)   -9 
Specialty Products   39,594   44,705   (5,111)   -11 
Total Net Sales  $ 912,865  $ 981,553  $ (68,688)   -7 

 
  For the Six Months Ended          
(In thousands)  June 30,   June 30,   Increase   Percent  
Operating Income  2015   2014   (Decrease)   Change  
Surfactants  $ 57,996  $ 37,577  $ 20,419   +54 
Polymers   38,214   29,270   8,944   +31 
Specialty Products   3,766   7,571   (3,805)   -50 

Segment Operating Income  $ 99,976  $ 74,418  $ 25,558   +34 
Corporate Expenses, Excluding Deferred Compensation  $ 28,053  $ 20,646  $ 7,407   +36 
Deferred Compensation Expense (Income)   8,150   (5,665)   13,815   NM 

Total Corporate Expenses  $ 36,203  $ 14,981  $ 21,222   +142 
Total Operating Income  $ 63,773  $ 59,437  $ 4,336   +7 

 

Surfactants

Surfactants net sales for the first half of 2015 declined $39.2 million, or six percent, from net sales for the first half of 2014. Sales volume increased one
percent between years, which had a $9.2 million positive effect on the year-over-year net sales change. Foreign currency translation and decreased selling
prices had negative effects of $45.2 million and $3.2 million, respectively, on the net sales
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change. Compared to last year’s first half, the U.S. dollar was stronger against all currencies of the segment’s foreign operations. A year-over-year
comparison of net sales by region follows:
 

  For the Six Months Ended        
  June 30,   June 30,   Increase   Percent  
(In thousands)  2015   2014   (Decrease)   Change  
North America  $ 389,551  $ 411,427  $ (21,876)   -5 
Europe   135,412   148,112   (12,700)   -9 
Latin America   74,516   81,294   (6,778)   -8 
Asia   30,815   28,638   2,177   +8 

Total Surfactants Segment  $ 630,294  $ 669,471  $ (39,177)   -6 
 

Net sales for North American operations declined five percent due to a three percent decrease in sales volume, a two percent decline in selling prices
and the unfavorable effects of foreign currency translation, which accounted for $11.8 million, $6.7 million and $3.4 million, respectively, of the year-over-
year net sales decline. Decreased sales volumes of products used in oil field, HI&I, agricultural chemical, and laundry and cleaning applications accounted for
most of the sales decline. These decreases were partially offset by increased sales volumes of products used in personal care applications. The decline in oil
field sales volume reflected lower sales to EOR customers due to decreases in crude oil prices.  HI&I sales volume was down mainly due to some lost
business, while sales volume of agricultural chemicals declined due to customers’ carryover inventory from last year and to farmers’ efforts to reduce
spraying costs due to lower crop prices. The decline in laundry and cleaning sales volume was principally attributable to customers bringing surfactant
production in-house beginning in the second quarter of 2014 to more fully utilize their internal capacity. Personal care sales volumes increased due principally
due to higher demand from an existing customer. The decline in selling prices reflected decreased raw material costs. The foreign currency effect reflected a
stronger U.S. dollar relative to the Canadian dollar.

Net sales for European operations declined nine percent between years. Sales volume was up 10 percent, resulting in a $14.9 million year-over-year
increase in net sales. The sales volume impact was more than offset by a $24.8 million unfavorable effect of foreign currency translation. In addition, selling
prices declined two percent, which negatively affected the year-over-year net sales change by $2.8 million. An increase in sales of laundry and cleaning and
agricultural chemical products, due to stronger demand from existing customers and new business, led to the improvement in sales volume. A stronger U.S.
dollar against the European euro and British pound sterling led to the foreign currency translation result.

Net sales for Latin American operations declined eight percent due to a $16.9 million unfavorable effect of foreign currency translation. Higher selling
prices and a five percent increase in sales volume offset the foreign currency translation impact by $6.0 million and $4.1 million, respectively. Higher sales
volume for Brazil operations accounted for most of the increased Latin American sales volume. The foreign currency translation effect resulted from the year-
over-year weakening of the Brazilian real and Colombian and Mexican pesos against the U.S. dollar.

Net sales for Asian operations increased eight percent due to increased selling prices and a three percent increase in sales volume, which accounted for
$1.4 million and $0.8 million, respectively, of the year-over-year increase in net sales.

Surfactants operating income for the first half of 2015 increased $20.4 million, or 54 percent, over operating income for the first half of 2014.  Gross
profit increased $19.7 million, largely due to improved results for North American operations. Foreign currency translation reduced the year-over-year gross
profit increase by $7.4 million. Operating expenses declined $0.7 million, or two percent. Year-over-year comparisons of gross profit by region and total
segment operating expenses and operating income follow:
 

  For the Six Months Ended        
  June 30,   June 30,   Increase   Percent  
(In thousands)  2015   2014   (Decrease)   Change  
Gross Profit                 
North America  $ 64,768  $ 48,330  $ 16,438   +34 
Europe   16,178   14,360   1,818   +13 
Latin America   12,915   10,042   2,873   +29 
Asia   7,491   8,922   (1,431)   -16 

Surfactants Segment Gross Profit  $ 101,352  $ 81,654  $ 19,698   +24 
Operating Expenses   43,356   44,077   (721)   -2 
Operating Income  $ 57,996  $ 37,577  $ 20,419   +54 

 
North American gross profit increased 34 percent year over year due to higher sales margins that more than offset the effect of decreased sales

volume. The favorable 2015 second quarter resolution of a previously recorded customer claim also contributed to the
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higher gross profit.  The improved sales margin resulted from a more favorable sales mix as well as lower raw material and transportation costs. In the first
half of 2014, the Company incurred additional transportation expenses due to carrier delays and suboptimal supply chain movements related to the effects of
severe winter weather and to production issues at the Anaheim, California, plant that resulted in shifting production to other Company locations. In addition
to the foregoing, 2014 first-half gross profit also included $1.8 million of accelerated depreciation related to the Company’s restructuring plan that was
approved in the fourth quarter of 2013.

Gross profit for European operations increased 13 percent between years principally due to the 10 percent increase in sales volume and sales margin
improvement that resulted from a more favorable mix of sales and from raw material cost declines that outpaced selling price decreases. Foreign currency
translation had a $3.3 million unfavorable effect on the year-over-year change in gross profit.

Gross profit for Latin American operations increased 29 percent largely due to a more profitable mix of sales, higher selling prices and the five percent
increase in sales volume that more than offset an unfavorable foreign currency translation impact of $3.3 million.

Asia gross profit declined 16 percent largely due to a less profitable mix of sales.

Operating expenses for the surfactants segment declined $0.7 million, or two percent, year over year primarily due to the effects of foreign currency
translation. Higher incentive-based compensation and group insurance expenses were partially offset by the effects of foreign currency translation.

Polymers

Polymers net sales for the first half of 2015 declined $24.4 million, or nine percent, from net sales for the first half of 2014. Sales volume was up four percent
between years, which had a $10.3 million favorable effect on the net sales change between years.  Lower selling prices and the effects of foreign currency
translation negatively impacted the year-over-year net sales change by $18.2 million and $16.5 million, respectively. Decreases in raw material costs led to
the decline in selling prices. The foreign currency translation effect reflected a stronger U.S. dollar against the currencies of the segment’s foreign operations.
A year-over-year comparison of net sales by region follows:
 

  For the Six Months Ended        
  June 30,   June 30,      Percent  
(In thousands)  2015   2014   (Decrease)   Change  
North America  $ 158,482  $ 167,707  $ (9,225)   -6 
Europe   73,256   87,781   (14,525)   -17 
Asia and Other   11,239   11,889   (650)   -5 

Total Polymers Segment  $ 242,977  $ 267,377  $ (24,400)   -9 
 

Net sales for North American operations declined six percent. Sales volume increased three percent, which had a $4.3 million favorable effect on the
year-over-year net sales change. Sales volume of rigid polyols and phthalic anhydride increased three percent and 17 percent, respectively, while sales volume
for specialty polyols declined seven percent. Lower selling prices had a $13.5 million unfavorable impact on the net sales change. Decreases in the cost of
major raw materials led to the reduction in sales prices.

Net sales for European operations declined 17 percent year-over-year. Sales volume increased five percent, which positively affected the year-over-
year net sales change by $4.1 million. Sales volume for rigid polyols increased six percent, while sales volume for specialty polyols fell 5 percent. The
unfavorable effects of foreign currency translation resulted in $16.0 million of reduced year-over-year net sales. The foreign currency translation effect
reflected a stronger U.S. dollar relative to the European euro. In addition to the foreign currency impact, selling prices declined three percent principally due
to a decline in rigid polyol raw material costs.

Net sales for Asia and Other operations declined five percent despite a 15 percent increase in sales volume. The growth in sales volume led to a $1.8
million improvement in year-over-year net sales. The volume gain reflected increased sales volume in Asia and Brazil. Lower selling prices, resulting from
raw material cost declines, and the unfavorable effects of foreign currency translation reduced the year-over-year change in net sales by $1.9 million and $0.5
million, respectively.

Polymer operating income for the first half of 2015 increased $8.9 million, or 31 percent, over operating income for the first half of 2014. The 2015 results
included the previously discussed $2.9 million gain on the sale of the Company’s specialty polyurethane systems product line. Gross profit increased $7.2
million between years due to the four percent increase in sales volume and lower raw material inventory cost position, partially offset by a $2.4 million
unfavorable effect of foreign currency translation. Operating
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expenses (excluding the gain on the product line sale) increased $1.1 million, or eight percent. Year-over-year comparisons of gross profit by region and total
segment operating expenses and operating income follow:
 

  For the Six Months Ended        
  June 30,   June 30,   Increase   Percent  
(In thousands)  2015   2014   (Decrease)   Change  
Gross Profit                 
North America  $ 38,174  $ 29,207  $ 8,967   +31 
Europe   10,366   12,315   (1,949)   -16 
Asia and Other   1,062   899   163   +18 

Polymers Segment Gross Profit  $ 49,602  $ 42,421  $ 7,181   +17 
Operating Expenses (incl. gain on sale of product line)   11,388   13,151   (1,763)   -13 
Operating Income  $ 38,214  $ 29,270  $ 8,944   +31 

 
Gross profit for North American operations increased 31 percent year over year due to the sales volume improvement and to lower raw material inventory
cost position. In addition, 2015 gross profit included the recognition of $1.0 million of previously deferred revenue due to the satisfaction of contractual
requirements.

Gross profit for European operations declined 16 percent primarily due to a $2.3 million unfavorable impact of foreign currency translation. The
impact of the five percent increase in sales volume partially mitigated the effect of foreign currency translation.

The increase in gross profit for Asia and Other operations was due to increased sale volume that more than offset the effects of foreign currency
translation.

Operating expenses for the polymers segment (excluding the $2.9 million gain on the product line sale) increased $1.1 million, or eight percent, year
over year. Higher incentive-based pay, group insurance and bad debt reserve expenses accounted for most of the operating expense increase. The bad debt
reserve expense increase reflected an increase in the allowance for uncollectible accounts for a high-risk customer. In addition, operating expenses in China,
where a new plant is being constructed, increased $0.7 million year over year. Foreign exchange translation reduced the year-over-year operating expense
increase by $0.8 million.

 
Specialty Products

Net sales for the first half of 2015 declined $5.1 million, or 11 percent, from net sales for the same period of 2014. A five percent decrease in sales volume,
the unfavorable effects of foreign currency translation and lower selling prices accounted for $2.1 million, $1.6 million and $1.4 million, respectively, of the
year-over-year net sales decrease. Lower sales of products used in food and nutritional supplement applications accounted for the sales volume decline.
Selling prices were lower largely due to competitive pressures for nutritional supplement products. Operating income decreased $3.8 million, or 50 percent,
between years due to lower sales volume and selling prices, higher raw material costs and an unfavorable mix of sales due to the timing of pharmaceutical
orders.
 
Corporate Expenses

Corporate expenses increased $21.2 million to $36.2 million for the first half of 2015 from $15.0 million for the first half of 2014. The significant
contributors to the year-over-year increase in corporate expenses included higher deferred compensation ($13.8 million), consulting ($2.3 million), fringe
benefit ($2.2 million), talent acquisition ($0.7 million) and environmental remediation ($0.6 million) expenses. Deferred compensation was $8.2 million of
expense for the first half of 2015 compared to $5.7 million of income for the first half of 2014. The change between years was largely attributable to a $14.03
per share increase in the value of Company common stock in the first half of 2015 compared to a $12.77 per share decrease for the same period of last year.
The following table presents the quarter-end Company common stock market prices used in the computation of deferred compensation expense:
 

  2015   2014   2013  
  6/30   12/31   6/30   12/31  
Company Stock Price  $ 54.11  $ 40.08  $ 52.86  $ 65.63 

 
Consulting expenses increased largely due to the Company’s ongoing DRIVE initiative to improve efficiency across the Company’s global organization. The
increase in fringe benefit expenses resulted primarily from higher incentive-based compensation (both short- and long-term) and group insurance expenses.
An increase in the remediation liability for the Company’s Maywood, New Jersey, site accounted for the increase in environmental remediation expense.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
 
For the six months ended June 30, 2015, operating activities were a cash source of $78.3 million versus a source of $15.0 million for the comparable period in
2014. For the current year period, investing cash outflows totaled $57.6 million and financing activities were a use of $19.7 million. Cash decreased by $2.9
million with exchange rates reducing cash by $3.8 million.
 

For the current year-to-date, net income was up by $0.9 million and working capital was a source of less than $0.1 million versus a use of $51.9 for
the comparable year-ago period. Cash outflows for investing activities were up by $15.2 million year over year. Cash flow for financing activities was a use
of $19.7 million in 2015 compared to a use of $9.9 million in 2014.

 
For the current year-to-date, accounts receivable were a use of $0.7 million compared to a use of $39.1 million for the comparable period in 2014.

Inventories were a use of $0.2 million in 2015 versus a use of $30.6 million in 2014. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities were a source of $3.4 million in
2015 compared to a source of $16.5 million for the same period in 2014.

 
Working capital requirements were lower during the first half of 2015 compared to the same period in 2014 primarily due to lower raw material

prices, partially offset by higher inventory and sales quantities. The Company’s working capital investment is heavily influenced by the cost of crude oil and
natural oils, from which many of its raw materials are derived. Fluctuations in raw material costs translate directly to inventory carrying costs and indirectly
to customer selling prices and accounts receivable.

 
The accounts receivable increase for the first six months was driven mainly by higher sales quantities, mostly offset by lower sales prices. The

inventory cash use for the first half was driven mainly by higher inventory quantities, almost entirely offset by lower raw material prices. The Company has
not changed its own payment practices related to its payables. It is management’s opinion that the Company’s liquidity is sufficient to provide for potential
increases in working capital during 2015.

 
Investing cash outflows for the first six months of 2015 included capital expenditures of $54.0 million compared to $39.1 million for the

comparable period last year. Other investing activities were a use of $3.6 million in 2015 versus a use of $3.4 million in 2014.  Other investing activities in
2015 included $5.1 million used to purchase the production facility in Bahia, Brazil and $3.3 million from proceeds on the sale of the specialty polyurethane
systems product line.

 
For 2015, the Company estimates that capital expenditures will range from $120 million to $140 million including capacity expansions in the

United States, China, and Brazil.
 
The Company purchases its common shares in the open market from time to time to fund its own benefit plans and also to mitigate the dilutive

effect of new shares issued under its benefit plans. The Company may also make open market repurchases as cash flows permit when, in management’s
opinion, the Company’s shares are undervalued in the market. The Company made no open market share repurchases during the first half of 2015.  At June
30, 2015, there were 803,679 shares remaining under the current share repurchase authorization.
 

As of June 30, 2015, the Company’s cash and cash equivalents totaled $82.4 million. Cash in U.S. demand deposit accounts totaled $7.2 million
and cash of the Company’s non-U.S. subsidiaries held outside the U.S. totaled $75.2 million at June 30, 2015.

 
Consolidated balance sheet debt decreased by $13.4 million for the current year-to-date, from $273.9 million to $260.5 million. Since last year-end,

domestic debt decreased by $10.0 million and foreign debt decreased by $3.4 million. Net debt (which is defined as total debt minus cash) decreased by $10.6
million for the current year-to-date, from $188.7 million to $178.1 million. As of June 30, 2015, the ratio of total debt to total debt plus shareholders’ equity
was 32.1 percent compared to 33.8 percent at December 31, 2014. As of June 30, 2015, the ratio of net debt to net debt plus shareholders’ equity was 24.4
percent, compared to 26.0 percent at December 31, 2014.

 
At June 30, 2015, the Company’s debt included $232.1 million of unsecured private placement loans with maturities extending from 2015 through

2025. These loans are the Company’s primary source of long-term debt financing and are supplemented by bank credit facilities to meet short and medium-
term needs.

 
The Company has a committed $125.0 million multi-currency syndicated revolving credit agreement. The credit agreement allows the Company to

make unsecured borrowings, as requested from time to time, for working capital and other corporate purposes. This unsecured facility is the Company’s
primary source of short-term borrowings and is committed through July 10, 2019, with terms and conditions that are substantially equivalent to those of the
Company’s other U.S. loan agreements. As of June 30, 2015, the Company had borrowings of $10.0 million and outstanding letters of credit of $5.0 million
under this agreement, with $110.0 million remaining available. The Company anticipates that cash from operations, committed credit facilities and cash on
hand will be sufficient to fund anticipated capital expenditures, working capital, dividends and other planned financial commitments for the foreseeable
future.
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Certain foreign subsidiaries of the Company maintain term loans and short-term bank lines of credit in their respective local currencies to meet
working capital requirements as well as to fund capital expenditure programs and acquisitions. At June 30, 2015, the Company’s European subsidiaries had
bank term loans of $4.4 million with maturities through 2021 and short-term bank debt of $12.6 million with remaining short-term borrowing capacity of
$14.3 million. The Company’s Latin American subsidiaries had no short-term bank debt with $12.2 million of unused short-term borrowing capacity. The
Company’s Philippine subsidiary had $1.3 million of short-term bank loans, which were guaranteed by the Company, with $5.7 million of unused borrowing
capacity.

 
On July 10, 2015, the Company completed a new $100.0 million unsecured private placement loan. See Note 18 to the condensed consolidated

financial statements for additional information.
 
The Company has material debt agreements that require the maintenance of minimum interest coverage and minimum net worth. These agreements

also limit the incurrence of additional debt as well as the payment of dividends and repurchase of treasury shares. Testing for these agreements is based on the
combined financial statements of the U.S. operations of the Company, Stepan Canada Inc., Stepan Quimica Ltda., Stepan Specialty Products, LLC, Stepan
Specialty Products B.V. and Stepan Asia Pte. Ltd. (the “Restricted Group”). Under the most restrictive of these debt covenants:

 
1. The Restricted Group must maintain a minimum interest coverage ratio, as defined within the agreements, of 2.0 to 1.0, for the preceding four

calendar quarters.
 

2. The Restricted Group must maintain net worth of at least $325.0 million.
 
3. The Restricted Group must maintain a ratio of long-term debt to total capitalization, as defined in the agreements, not to exceed 55 percent.
 

The Restricted Group may pay dividends and purchase treasury shares after December 31, 2013, in amounts of up to $100.0 million plus 100
percent of net income and cash proceeds of stock option exercises, measured cumulatively after June 30, 2014. The maximum amount of dividends that could
have been paid within this limitation is disclosed as unrestricted retained earnings in Note 12, Debt, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

 
The Company believes it was in compliance with all of its loan agreements as of June 30, 2015. Based on current projections, the Company

believes it will be in compliance with its loan agreements throughout 2015.
 

ENVIRONMENTAL AND LEGAL MATTERS
 
The Company’s operations are subject to extensive federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations.  Although the Company's environmental
policies and practices are designed to ensure compliance with these laws and regulations, future developments and increasingly stringent environmental
regulation could require the Company to make additional unforeseen environmental expenditures.  The Company will continue to invest in the equipment and
facilities necessary to comply with existing and future regulations.  During the first six months of 2015 and 2014, the Company’s expenditures for capital
projects related to the environment were $0.8 million and $1.8 million, respectively.  These projects are capitalized and depreciated over their estimated useful
lives, which are typically 10 years.  Recurring costs associated with the operation and maintenance of facilities for waste treatment and disposal and managing
environmental compliance in ongoing operations at the Company’s manufacturing locations were $10.5 million and $9.6 million for the six months ended
June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  While difficult to project, it is not anticipated that these recurring expenses will increase significantly in the future.

Over the years, the Company has received requests for information related to or has been named by the government as a potentially responsible
party at a number of waste disposal sites where cleanup costs have been or may be incurred under CERCLA and similar state statutes.  In addition, damages
are being claimed against the Company in general liability actions for alleged personal injury or property damage in the case of some disposal and plant
sites.  The Company believes that it has made adequate provisions for the costs it may incur with respect to the sites.  It is the Company’s accounting policy to
record liabilities when environmental assessments and/or remedial efforts are probable and the cost or range of possible costs can be reasonably
estimated.  When no amount within the range is a better estimate than any other amount, the minimum is accrued.  Some of the factors on which the Company
bases its estimates include information provided by feasibility studies, potentially responsible party negotiations and the development of remedial action
plans.  After partial remediation payments at certain sites, the Company has estimated a range of possible environmental and legal losses of $20.7 million to
$41.1 million at June 30, 2015, compared to $21.9 million to $41.8 million at December 31, 2014.  At June 30, 2015, and December 31, 2014, the Company's
accrued liability for such losses, which represented the Company’s best estimate within the estimated range of possible environmental and legal losses, was
$20.7 million and $22.0 million, respectively.  During the first six months of 2015 and 2014, cash outlays related to legal and environmental matters
approximated $1.9 and $0.5 million, respectively.
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For certain sites, the Company has responded to information requests made by federal, state or local government agencies but has received no
response confirming or denying the Company’s stated positions. As such, estimates of the total costs, or range of possible costs, of remediation, if any, or the
Company’s share of such costs, if any, cannot be determined with respect to these sites. Consequently, the Company is unable to predict the effect thereof on
the Company’s financial position, cash flows and results of operations. Given the information available, management believes the Company has no liability at
these sites. However, in the event of one or more adverse determinations with respect to such sites in any annual or interim period, the effect on the
Company’s cash flows and results of operations for those periods could be material.  Based upon the Company’s present knowledge with respect to its
involvement at these sites, the possibility of other viable entities’ responsibilities for cleanup, and the extended period over which any costs would be
incurred, the Company believes that these matters, individually and in the aggregate, will not have a material effect on the Company’s financial position.
Certain of these matters are discussed in Item 1, Part 2, Legal Proceedings, in this report and in other filings of the Company with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, which are available upon request from the Company.  See also Note 7 to the condensed consolidated financial statements for a
summary of the environmental proceedings related to certain environmental sites.

OTHER DEVELOPMENTS
 
In July 2015, the Company signed a long-term supply agreement with The Sun Products Corporation (SUN) and, separately, also reached an agreement to
purchase select chemical manufacturing assets from SUN's Pasadena, Texas manufacturing site. See Note 18 to the condensed consolidated financial
statements for additional information.

OUTLOOK
 
After six months, the Company remains on track to re-establish earnings momentum for the full year. In the second half, Surfactant earnings should benefit
from new commodity laundry volumes in North and Latin America, continued diversification of the Company’s business in Europe as well as contributions
from improved operations and the Company’s efficiency program.  Management expects continued Polymer income growth in 2015 driven by higher polyol
volumes used in rigid insulation and metal panels.  The construction projects to add polyol capacity in China and Poland are progressing, and both should
start production in 2016.
 
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 
There have been no changes to the critical accounting policies disclosed in the Company’s 2014 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Item 3 – Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

There have been no material changes to the market risks disclosed in the Company’s 2014 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 
 
Item 4 – Controls and Procedures

a. Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Based on their evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the most recent fiscal quarter covered by this Form 10-Q,
our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) were effective as of June 30, 2015.

b. Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in internal controls that occurred during our most recent fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

 
 
Part II OTHER INFORMATION
 

Item 1 – Legal Proceedings

There have been no material changes to the legal proceedings disclosed in the Company’s 2014 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 
 
Item 1A – Risk Factors

There have been no material changes to the risk factors disclosed in the Company’s 2014 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 
 
Item 2 – Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

None
 
 
Item 3 – Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None
 
 
Item 4 – Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable
 
 
Item 5 – Other Information

None
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Item 6 – Exhibits
 
(a) Exhibit 10.1 – Stepan Company Management Incentive Plan (As Amended and Restated Effective January 1, 2015)
    
(b) Exhibit 31.1 – Certification of President and Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-

14(a)/15d-14(a)
    

(c) Exhibit 31.2 – Certification of Vice President and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)
    

(d) Exhibit 32 – Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
    

(e) Exhibit 101.INS – XBRL Instance Document
    

(f) Exhibit 101.SCH – XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
    

(g) Exhibit 101.CAL – XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
    

(h) Exhibit 101.DEF – XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Document
    

(i) Exhibit 101.LAB – XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
    

(j) Exhibit 101.PRE – XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.
 

STEPAN COMPANY

Date:  July 29, 2015
 

/s/ Scott D. Beamer
Scott D. Beamer

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 10.1

 
STEPAN COMPANY

MANAGEMENT INCENTIVE PLAN 
(As Amended and Restated Effective January 1, 2015)

SECTION 1

General

1.1 History and Effective Date.  STEPAN COMPANY, a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), has
previously established an incentive compensation plan known as the STEPAN COMPANY MANAGEMENT INCENTIVE PLAN
(the “Plan”).  The Plan was previously amended and restated effective as of January 1, 1992, January 1, 2005 and again as of
January 1, 2010.  The following provisions constitute a further amendment and restatement and continuation of the Plan, as
heretofore amended, which amended and restated Plan is adopted effective January 1, 2015, subject to approval of the Plan by
shareholders of the Company required by Section 8 hereof.

The Plan is intended to comply with the requirements of Sections 409A(a)(2) through (4) of the Internal Revenue Code
of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and any applicable regulations or other generally applicable official guidance issued thereunder,
and shall be interpreted for all purposes in accordance with this intent.

Payments pursuant to Section 2.3 of the Plan are intended to qualify under the performance-based compensation
exemption of Section 162(m)(4)(C) of the Code.

1.2 Purpose.  The Plan is designed to assist the Company in attracting and retaining qualified persons in
executive and other managerial positions and to provide them an additional incentive to contribute to the success of the Company.

1.3 Administration.  The authority to control and manage the operation and administration of the Plan shall
be vested in a committee (the “Committee”) which shall be the Compensation and Development Committee of the Board of
Directors of the Company (the “Board of Directors”), or such other committee of the Board of Directors as the Board of Directors
may from time to time determine.  The Committee, to the extent awards under the Plan are intended to be exempt from Section
162(m) of the Code, shall be comprised solely of two or more persons, each of whom shall qualify as an “outside director” for
purposes of Section 162(m)(4) of the Code and to the extent required to comply with Rule 16b-3 under Section 16(b) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, shall be comprised solely of two or more persons, each of whom shall qualify as a
“non-employee director” for purposes of said Rule 16b-3.  Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, the Committee shall
have the full authority to interpret and construe the provisions of the Plan, to remedy ambiguities, inconsistencies or omissions of
whatever kind, to prescribe, amend and rescind such rules and regulations as, in its opinion, may be necessary or appropriate for the
proper and efficient administration of the Plan, and to determine conclusively all questions arising under the Plan, including
questions of fact.  It is intended that the Committee shall have the maximum authority and discretion allowed by law

 



 
with respect to any and all of its duties and responsibilities relating to the Plan.  Any interpretation of the Plan, and any decision on
any matter within the discretion of the Committee affecting the Plan that is made by the Committee in good faith, shall be final and
binding on all persons.

1.4 Applicable Law.  The Plan shall be construed and administered in accordance with the laws of the State
of Illinois, without regard to its choice of law provisions, to the extent that they are not preempted by the laws of the United States
of America.

1.5 Gender and Number.  Where the context admits, words in any gender shall include any other gender,
words in the singular shall include the plural, and words in the plural shall include the singular.

1.6 Notices.  Any notice or document required to be given to or filed with the Committee under the Plan
will be properly filed if delivered or mailed by registered mail, postage prepaid, to the Committee, in care of the Company at its
principal executive offices.

SECTION 2

Participation and Awards

2.1 Participation.  The individuals who shall be eligible to receive an Award (as described in Section 2.2 or
Section 2.3) for any calendar year shall be those executive, managerial and key employees of the Company, including its
subsidiaries, selected by the Committee or its designee, subject to Section 2.3, at any time during such year.  Notwithstanding the
foregoing, an individual must be in the employ of the Company or an Affiliate (as defined in Section 6.5) on December 31 of a
calendar year to receive an Award for such year, except that this provision shall not prevent a Participant whose employment with
the Company or its Affiliates terminates during a calendar year because of his death, disability, or retirement from being eligible,
within the discretion of the Committee, for the earned Award to which the Participant would otherwise be entitled prorated based
on his actual period of employment during such year.  An individual shall be considered a Participant in the Plan upon his or her
designation by the Committee or, where applicable, its designee.

2.2 Awards.  Subject to Section 2.3 hereof, the amount of an incentive award (the “Award”) for any
calendar year shall be determined by the Committee and shall be based upon the performance of the Company or a subsidiary, the
performance of the Participant’s department (if relevant), and/or the performance of the Participant; provided, however, that the
amount of an Award to any Participant for any calendar year shall not exceed 200 percent of the amount of the actual base salary
payable to the Participant by the Company and its subsidiaries for the calendar year for which the Award is made, exclusive of the
Award or any other form of executive compensation, stock option or other fringe benefit (“Base Salary”).  An Award to a
Participant for any calendar year shall be paid to or on behalf of the Participant, in cash, as soon as practicable (and in any event by
no later than March 15) after the close of the calendar year for which the Award is made except to the extent that a Deferral Request
(as described in Section 3.1) is in effect with respect to such year.  For purposes of the Plan, an Award is
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considered made or granted for the calendar year with respect to which the services entitling the Participant to the Award are
performed.

2.3 Awards for Certain Designated Participants.  Awards granted under the Plan for any calendar year to
Participants who are Covered Employees for such calendar year shall be subject to the provisions of pre-established performance
goals (“Performance Goals”) as set forth in this Section 2.3.  Eligibility for participation in the Plan of Covered Employees for
Awards for a calendar year shall be limited to those executive, managerial and key employees of the Company, including its
subsidiaries, selected by the Committee.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Section 2, the Committee shall not have the
discretion to modify the terms of Awards to such Participants except as specifically set forth in this Section 2.3.  For purposes of the
Plan, “Covered Employee” means, for any calendar year, a Participant designated by the Committee prior to the grant of an Award
for such year who is or may be a “covered employee” within the meaning of Section 162(m)(3) of the Code for the year in which
such Award would be payable and for whom the Committee intends amounts payable with respect to such Award to qualify under
the performance-based compensation exemption of Section 162(m)(4)(C) of the Code.  Earned Awards under this Section 2.3 are
intended to satisfy the performance-based compensation exemption under Code Section 162(m)(4)(C) and the related regulations.

(a) Award Opportunities.  On or before the 90th day of any calendar year, and in any
event before twenty-five percent (25%) or more of the calendar year has elapsed, the Committee shall establish in writing the
Awards and the specific Performance Goals for the calendar year, upon the attainment of which will be conditioned the payment of
such Awards (“Covered Employee Incentive Awards”) to Participants who may be Covered Employees for such calendar year.  A
Covered Employee Incentive Award shall be based upon a percentage of the Participant’s Base Salary designated by the Committee
at the time the Award is granted, which percentage need not be the same for each Participant (the “Target Incentive Award”).  The
extent, if any, to which a Covered Employee Incentive Award will be payable will be based solely upon the degree of achievement
of pre-established Performance Goals over the specified calendar year, provided, however, that the Committee may, in its sole
discretion, reduce or eliminate the amount which would otherwise be payable with respect to a calendar year.

(b) Performance Goals.  The Performance Goals established by the Committee at the time
a Covered Employee Incentive Award is granted will be based on one or more of the following relating to the Company, one or
more of its subsidiaries, or one or more business or functional units thereof: earnings per share, market share, stock price, sales,
costs, capital expenditures, revenue, net operating income, net income, corporate net income, net income per share, cash flow,
corporate free cash flow, retained earnings, earnings before interest and taxes (“EBIT”), earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation
and amortization (“EBITDA”), return on equity, return on capital, return on invested capital, corporate return on invested capital,
return on assets, return on total assets employed, total shareholder return, shareholder value analysis, results of customer
satisfaction surveys, aggregate product price and other product price measures, safety record, operating and maintenance cost
management, operating earnings, operating earnings per share, environmental standards or compliance, economic value added,
margins, and measures of employee satisfaction or engagement; provided, that all Performance Goals shall be objective
performance goals satisfying the requirements for “performance-based compensation” within the meaning of Section 162(m)(4) of
the Code.  At the time of establishing
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a Performance Goal, the Committee shall specify the manner in which the Performance Goal shall be calculated.  In so doing, the
Committee may exclude the impact of certain specified events from the calculation of the Performance Goal.  For example, if the
Performance Goal were earnings per share, the Committee could, at the time this Performance Goal was established, specify that
earnings per share are to be calculated without regard to any subsequent change in accounting standards required by the Financial
Accounting Standards Board.  Such Performance Goals also may be based on the attainment of specified levels of performance of
the Company and/or one or more subsidiaries, and/or one or more business or functional units thereof, under one or more of the
measures described above relative to the performance of other corporations or indices.

(c) Payment of an Earned Covered Employee Incentive Award.  At the time the Covered
Employee Incentive Award is granted, the Committee shall prescribe in writing a formula to determine the percentage of the Target
Incentive Award (which may exceed 100%) which may be payable based upon the degree of attainment of the Performance Goals
during the calendar year.  If the minimum level of achievement of the Performance Goals established by the Committee is not met,
no payment will be made to a Participant who is a Covered Employee.  To the extent that the minimum level of achievement of the
Performance Goals are satisfied or surpassed, and upon written certification by the Committee that the Performance Goals have
been satisfied to a particular extent and any other material terms and conditions of the Covered Employee Incentive Awards have
been satisfied, payment of an earned Covered Employee Incentive Award shall be made, in cash, as soon as practicable (and in any
event by no later than March 15) after the close of the calendar year for which the Award is granted, or deferred in accordance with
the Participant’s election under Section 3, unless the Committee determines, in its sole discretion, to reduce or eliminate the
payment to be made.

(d) Maximum Payable.  The maximum amount of a Covered Employee Incentive Award
payable to a Covered Employee under this Plan for any calendar year pursuant to this Section 2.3 shall be $2,000,000 or, if less,
200 percent of the Participant’s Base Salary.

SECTION 3

Deferred Awards Elections

3.1 Deferral Requests.

(a) Generally.  Subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, a Participant may elect to
defer the payment of all or any portion of an Award, including a Covered Employee Incentive Award, granted to him under the Plan
for any calendar year by submitting a request (a “Deferral Request”) with the Committee or its designee in such form as it may
require.  Such Deferral Request must be filed with and accepted by the Committee or its designee by no later than June 30 of the
calendar year for which such Award is made, and may be made only by Participants who have performed services for the Company
continuously from the later of January 1 of the calendar year for which the Award is made or the date the Committee establishes the
Performance Goals for the Award.  A Participant’s Deferral Request for any calendar year shall designate the amount of the Award
that shall be deferred and shall become irrevocable as of midnight on June 30 of the calendar year for which the Award is made.
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(b) Newly Eligible Participants.  A Participant who is selected by the Committee or its

designee to be a Participant during a calendar year (a “Newly Eligible Participant”) shall also be entitled to file a Deferral Request
with respect to a pro‑rata portion of the Award.

(i) Such a Deferral Request must be submitted to and accepted by the
Committee or its designee within 30 days after the date on which the Newly Eligible Participant is initially selected by
the Committee or its designee to be a Participant during such year.  If the Deferral Request is not submitted and accepted
within 30 days, the Newly Eligible Participant shall not be permitted to make a Deferral Request under this Section
3.1(b) with respect to any portion of the Award for such year.  A Deferral Request submitted by a Newly Eligible
Participant shall designate the amount of the Award that shall be deferred and shall become irrevocable as of midnight on
the 30th day following the date on which the Newly Eligible Participant is initially selected by the Committee or its
designee to be a Participant.

(ii) The amount of the Award that may be deferred pursuant to the
Deferral Request by a Newly Eligible Participant shall not be greater than the amount of the Newly Eligible Participant’s
Award that is earned after the date on which the Newly Eligible Participant files his or her Deferral Request.  The amount
of the Newly Eligible Participant’s Award that may be deferred shall be equal to the total amount of the Award for the
year multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which shall equal the number of days from the time the Newly Eligible
Participant files the Deferral Request until December 31 of such year, and the denominator of which shall equal the total
number of days during the performance period in respect of which the Award is paid.

(iii) A Participant will be considered a Newly Eligible Participant even if
the Participant had previously been eligible to participate in the Plan if:

(A) The Participant received all amounts previously credited to the
Participant’s Company Stock Account and General Investment Account and before such receipt, had
ceased to be eligible to participate in the Plan; or

(B) The Participant has been ineligible to participate in the Plan for at
least 24 months when the Participant is again selected to be a Participant during the calendar year.

3.2 Allocation of Deferred Awards.  A Participant shall designate, on his or her Deferral Request for a
calendar year, the allocation of his or her Award between the Participant’s Company Stock Account and the General Investment
Account.

3.3 Distribution Elections.  A Participant shall designate, in accordance with Section 5, the manner in
which the Participant’s Award that has been deferred in accordance with Section 3.1, as adjusted for subsequent earnings, losses
and other charges and credits, shall be distributed to or for the benefit of the Participant.
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SECTION 4

Deferred Awards:  Accounts

4.1 Deferred Accounts.  Subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, an Award for any calendar year
that is deferred in accordance with Section 3.1 shall be credited, as elected by the Participant in the Deferral Request applicable to
such Award, to the Company Stock Account or to the General Investment Account maintained on the Company’s books for the
Participant as described in subsections (a) and (b) below.  Effective for deferrals of Awards made for calendar year 2007 and
thereafter, a Participant’s election to allocate all or a portion of his or her Award to the Company Stock Account shall be
irrevocable and shall be credited to the Participant’s Special Company Stock Account, established as a subaccount of the Company
Stock Account, in accordance with the method for crediting Share Units and Dividend Equivalents to the Company Stock Account
described in Section 4.1(a).  A Participant’s Account may be divided into two or more other subaccounts as the Company
determines necessary or desirable for the administration of the Plan, and shall be divided into subaccounts to reflect the portion of
the Account that is attributable to Awards made for calendar years prior to 2005 and to reflect the portion of the Account
attributable to Awards made for 2005 and subsequent years.  A Participant shall be 100% vested in his or her Account(s) at all
times.

(a) Company Stock Account.  As of the date an earned Award is declared by the
Committee, the Participant shall be credited with the number of share units (and fractions thererof) (“Share Units”) equal to the
number of shares (and fractional shares calculated to the nearest one-thousandth (.001) of a share) (“Shares”) of the Company’s
common stock that the amount of the Award would purchase based on the closing market price of such stock on the New York
Stock Exchange on the day the contributions are allocated for the declared Award .  No less frequently than once in every calendar
year the Committee or its designee shall, for each dividend payment date declared with respect to the Company’s common stock
since the last such determination:

(i) determine the amount of the dividends that would have been paid by
the Company on the number of Shares of the Company’s common stock equal to the number of Share Units credited to
the Participant on the record date for such dividend (“Dividend Equivalents”); and

(ii) credit the Participant’s Company Stock Account with the number of
Share Units equal to the number of Shares of the Company’s common stock that the Dividend Equivalents attributable to
such dividend payment date would have purchased based on the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the
New York Stock Exchange on such dividend payment date.

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this paragraph (a), in no event shall Shares of the Company’s common stock
be earmarked for a Participant’s Account or set aside for the benefit of the Participant by reason of the crediting of Share Units
under this paragraph (a).
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(b) General Investment Account.

(i) The amount of each Award deferred to the Participant’s General
Investment Account shall be deemed to be invested on the date the Award is declared by the Committee in an investment
fund(s) (which may include contracts of insurance) selected by the Participant with the consent of the Company or its
designee in the Deferral Request applicable to such Award.  The earnings and losses deemed to be attributable to the
investment of a Participant’s General Investment Account for any calendar year shall be the earnings and losses that
would have been yielded if the Participant’s General Investment Account had been invested in the investment selected by
the Participant for the year.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, any such investment fund(s) made available under the Plan
must qualify as a predetermined actual investment within the meaning of Treasury Reg. §31.3121(v)(2)-1(d)(2) or, for
any calendar year, reflect a reasonable rate of interest (determined in accordance with Treasury Reg. §31.3121(v)(2)-1(d)
(2)(i)(C)).

(ii) A Participant may elect to change the selection of his or her General Investment Account
investment fund selections, which change shall be effective as of the close of business each day (a “GIA Transfer
Date”).  Any change by a Participant in his or her investment fund selections shall be submitted in writing or
electronically with the Committee or its designee as specified by the Committee or its designee and shall apply
prospectively as of the GIA Transfer Date to all amounts credited to the Participant’s General Investment Account.  In the
case of a Participant who fails to make an investment election and who has not yet made an investment election, the
Participant’s Account will be invested in the Fidelity Freedom Fund with a target retirement date closest to the year in
which the Participant will turn age 65, or other Investment Fund established by the Committee for such purpose.
Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this subsection, nothing in the Plan shall be construed to require the
Company to segregate or invest any assets to reflect the Participant’s investment fund selections.

(c) Effective Date Credited Amounts.  The amounts credited to a Participant’s Company
Stock Account (including the Special Company Stock Account established as a sub-account thereunder) and General Investment
Account, if any, on January 1, 2015 shall be equal to the amount credited to such Accounts, respectively, as of December 31, 2014
under the terms of the Plan as in effect on that date.

(d) Amounts Credited to Special Company Stock Account.  The amount credited to the
Participant’s Special Company Stock Account from time to time, including any Dividend Equivalents thereon, shall be held in the
Special Company Stock Account until distributed to the Participant in shares of the Company’s common stock in accordance with
Section 5.
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4.2 Transfers from the Company Stock Account to the General Investment Account for Pre 2007 Deferrals.
 

(a) Application.  This Section 4.2 shall only apply to the portion of a Participant’s
Company Stock Account that is attributable to deferrals of Awards made for calendar years prior to the 2007 calendar year,
including Dividend Equivalents thereon (“Pre 2007 Balance”) reduced by the portion of the Participant’s Company Stock Account
Pre 2007 Balance that the Participant elected to transfer to the Special Company Stock Account effective December 31, 2006 under
the terms of the Plan as then in effect.

 
(b) Transfers.  Subject to the limitations of Section 4.2(a) and the Company’s Insider

Trading Policy as in effect from time to time, a Participant may elect that all or a portion (in increments of one percent) of the
balance of his or her Company Stock Account (including any Dividend Equivalents accrued but not yet converted into Share Units
as of such date) be transferred to his or her General Investment Account.  Such transfer shall be effective as of the date the
Participant elects such transfer if the election is requested before 4:00 p.m. Eastern Standard Time or as of the next business day
following the date of the election if such transfer is requested on or after 4:00 p.m. Eastern Standard Time (the “Transfer Effective
Date”).  For purposes of this Section 4.2(b), the value of a Share Unit credited to a Participant’s Company Stock Account as of any
Transfer Effective Date shall be equal to the closing price of one share of the Company’s common stock on the New York Stock
Exchange as of the close of business on the Transfer Effective Date.  Any election under this Section 4.2(b) shall be irrevocable and
shall be filed with the Committee or its designee under rules prescribed by the Committee.

 
SECTION 5

Deferred Awards:  Payment
 

5.1 Distributions of Awards Earned Prior to 2005.

(a) The portion of a Participant’s Account that is attributable to deferrals of Awards made
for calendar years prior to the 2005 calendar year shall be distributed to or for the benefit of the Participant in 10 substantially equal
installments commencing in February of the first calendar year following the year in which the Participant has separated from
service (as defined in Section 5.11 below).

(b) Notwithstanding the method of distribution specified in Section 5.1(a), the Committee
may alter the commencement date and period of distribution for the portion of a Participant’s Account that is attributable to
deferrals of Awards made for calendar years prior to the 2005 calendar year with respect to any Participant if the Committee
determines, in its sole discretion, that such change is in the best interest of the Participant after taking into account the Participant’s
particular needs and circumstances.

(c) Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, the Board of Directors may, in
its sole discretion, upon recommendation of the Committee, accelerate the distribution, in whole or in part, of the portion of a
Participant’s Account under the Plan that is attributable to deferrals of Awards made for calendar years prior to 2005, including a
payment

A-8
 



 
made following the death of the Participant pursuant to Section 5.5, if it determines that such acceleration is in the best interest of
the Company or Participant.

5.2 Distribution of Awards Earned in 2005 and 2006.

(a) The portion of a Participant’s Account that is attributable to deferrals of Awards made
for the 2005 and 2006 calendar years and that is payable on or after January 1, 2007 shall be distributed to or for the benefit of the
Participant in accordance with the method of payment elected by the Participant for the Award made for the 2007 calendar year or,
if the Participant did not defer or earn an Award for the 2007 calendar year, as the Participant irrevocably elected on or before
December 31, 2006 from among methods of payment provided by Section 5.3.  Payment shall be made (in the case of a single lump
sum) or commence (in the case of installments) in February of the first calendar year following the year in which the Participant
has separated from service (as defined in Section 5.11 below).

(b) In the absence of a Participant’s election pursuant to Section 5.2(a), the portion of a
Participant’s Account that is attributable to deferrals of Awards made for the 2005 and 2006 calendar years shall be distributed to or
for the benefit of the Participant in 10 substantially equal installments as provided in Section 5.3 commencing in February of the
first calendar following the year in which the Participant has separated from service (as defined in Section 5.11 below).

(c) It is intended that the elections provided by Sections 5.2(a) qualify as Code Section
409A transition elections pursuant to published IRS guidance.

(d) All amounts distributed pursuant to this Section 5.2 shall be subject to the special
delay rule for Specified Employees set forth in Section 5.4 and to Section 6.6.

5.3 Distribution Elections for Awards Earned for 2007 and Subsequent Years.  A Participant may elect the
method of payment for the portion of the Participant’s Account attributable to deferrals of Awards made for the 2007 calendar year
and subsequent years from among the following:

(a) 3, 5 or 10 substantially equal annual installments; or

(b) A single lump sum.

Payment shall be made (in the case of a single lump sum) or commence (in the case of installments) in February of the first
calendar year following the year in which the Participant has separated from service (as defined in Section 5.11 below), provided,
that with respect to Awards earned for 2016 and subsequent calendar years, payment shall be made (in the case of a single lump
sum) or commence (in the case of installments) in February of the first calendar year following the year in which the Participant
has separated from service (as defined in Section 5.11 below), or March 1 of the year following the Performance Period, if
later.  The amount of each installment payment hereunder shall be calculated by dividing the balance credited to the Participant’s
Account(s) to which the election applies at the time of each such payment by the number of remaining installments (including the
current installment).  Installment payments shall be made in the month of February as specified above and in anniversaries thereof
(and, for
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purposes of Section 409A of the Code, each such installment payment shall be a separate payment and not one of a series of
payments treated as a single payment).

A Participant’s initial distribution election shall be made, as directed by the Committee or its designee, no later than the
date specified in Section 3.1 as the date on which a Participant’s Deferral Election shall be due, and shall apply to all Awards that
are deferred for future calendar years, if any, until the Participant is entitled to make a new distribution election, as provided below.

A Participant shall be entitled to make a new distribution election each year to be applicable to Awards deferred for
future calendar years.  A new distribution election shall be made by filing such election with the Committee or its designee on such
form as it shall prescribe.  

A Participant shall be deemed to have elected to have the portion of his or her Account attributable to his or her Awards
for which no elections have been made distributed in the form of 10 substantially equal annual installments.

All amounts distributed pursuant to this Section 5.3 shall be subject to the special delay rule for Specified Employees set
forth in Section 5.4 and to Section 6.6.

5.4 Delay for Specified Employees.  This Section 5.4 shall only apply to distributions that are attributable
to deferrals of Awards made for in 2005 and subsequent years.  Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, no payment to
the extent attributable to such Awards shall be made to any Participant who is a Specified Employee as of the date of such
Participant’s separation from service (as defined in Section 5.11) until the earlier of (i) the date that is the first day of the seventh
month after the date of the Participant’s separation from service, or (ii) the date of the Participant’s death.  Any payment that would
otherwise have been made during this period shall instead be aggregated and paid to the Participant (or, in the case of the
Participant’s death, his or her beneficiary) in the form of a single lump sum upon the earlier of the dates specified in the preceding
sentence.  “Specified Employee” for purposes of this Section 5.4 means, during the 12-month period beginning on April 1st of
2005 or of any subsequent calendar year, an employee of the Company or its Affiliates who met the requirements of Section 416(i)
(1)(A)(i), (ii) or (iii) of the Code (applied in accordance with the regulations promulgated thereunder and without regard to Code
Section 416(i)(5)) for being a "key employee" at any time during the 12-month period ending on the December 31st immediately
preceding such April 1st.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Participant who otherwise would be a Specified Employee under the
preceding sentence shall not be a Specified Employee for purposes of the Plan unless, as of the date of the Participant's separation
from service, stock of the Company or an Affiliate is publicly traded on an established securities market or otherwise.

5.5 Death.

(a) In the event that a Participant dies before full payment of all amounts payable to him
or her under the Plan have been made, the balance of such amounts shall be paid to the beneficiary or beneficiaries designated by
the Participant in a writing filed with the
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Committee or its designee prior to his or her death, or, if no designation has been made or the designated beneficiary predeceases
the Participant, to the estate of the Participant.

(b) Amounts payable in accordance with this Section 5.5 that are attributable to deferrals
of Awards made for calendar year 2005 and subsequent years shall be paid, subject to Section 6.6, in February of the first calendar
year following the Participant’s death in the form of a single lump sum.

(c) Amounts payable in accordance with this Section 5.5 that are attributable to deferrals
of Awards made for years prior to the 2005 calendar year shall be paid at the same time and in the same form as which such
payments would have been made to the Participant if he or she had lived or as otherwise provided by the Committee and subject to
Section 5.1(c).

(d) A Participant may change his or her beneficiary designation from time to time and
any beneficiary designation form shall be effective only when the signed form is filed with the Committee or its designee while the
Participant is alive and will cancel all beneficiary designation forms signed earlier.

5.6 Permitted Delays in Payment.  Payment of a Participant’s Account attributable to deferrals of Awards
made for the 2005 calendar year and subsequent years will be delayed under any of the circumstances specified in Sections 5.6(a)
through (b) below or as provided in Section 6.6.

(a) Payments that would violate Applicable Law.  Payment of a Participant’s Account
will be delayed where the Committee reasonably anticipates that the making of the payment would violate Federal securities laws
or other applicable law; provided that such payment will be made at the earliest date at which the Committee reasonably anticipates
that the making of the payment would not cause such violation.  For purposes of this subsection (a), the making of a payment that
would cause inclusion in the Participant’s gross income or the application of any penalty or other provision of the Code is not
treated as a violation of applicable law.

(b) Other Payments.  The Committee shall be permitted to delay a payment of a
Participant’s Account upon such other events and conditions as may be prescribed under Code Section 409A and any regulations or
other generally applicable official guidance issued thereunder.

5.7 Assets to be Distributed.

(a) Except as provided in Sections 5.7(b) and 5.7(c), all amounts credited to a Participant
under the Plan shall be paid in cash.  Any cash payment under this Section 5.7 from a Participant’s Company Stock Account shall
be equal to the number of Share Units credited to the applicable Account to be distributed multiplied by the closing price of the
Company’s common stock on the New York Stock Exchange on the last trading day prior to the date as of which payment is made.

(b) Distributions of amounts credited to a Participant’s Company Stock Account
(excluding however, amounts credited to the Participant’s Special Company Stock
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Account that are attributable to (i) deferrals of Awards made for the 2007 calendar year and subsequent years (including Dividend
Equivalents thereon), and (ii) amounts credited to the Participant’s Special Company Stock Account pursuant to the special election
made under the Plan effective as of December 31, 2006 (including Dividend Equivalents thereon)), may, at the election of the
Participant, be paid in the form of cash or Shares of the Company’s common stock equal to the number of Share Units to be
distributed.

(c) Distribution of amounts credited to the Participant’s Special Company Stock Account
that are attributable to (i) deferrals of Awards made for the 2007 calendar year and subsequent years (including Dividend
Equivalents thereon), and (ii) amounts credited to the Participant’s Special Company Stock Account pursuant to the special election
made under the Plan effective as of December 31, 2006 (including Dividend Equivalents thereon) shall be paid to the Participant in
Shares of the Company’s common stock equal to the number of Share Units to be distributed.

(d) Shares of the Company’s common stock distributed under this Section 5.7 shall be
made available from treasury shares or shares of the Company’s common stock acquired by the Company, including shares
purchased in the open market.  The obligation of the Company to deliver any shares of Company common stock shall be subject to
all applicable laws, rules and regulations including all applicable federal and state securities laws, and the applicable requirements
of any securities exchanges or similar entity, and the obtaining of all such approvals by governmental agencies as may be deemed
necessary or appropriate by the Committee.

5.8 No Acceleration of Payment.  Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, the distribution of
any portion of Participants’ Accounts under the Plan attributable to deferrals of Awards made for the 2005 calendar year and
subsequent years may not be accelerated, whether at the election of a Participant or at the discretion of the Committee or otherwise,
except as may be specifically permitted under Code Section 409A and any regulations or generally applicable official guidance
issued thereunder.

5.9 Claims Procedures.  If a Participant or Participant’s beneficiary (“Claimant”) files a claim for benefits
under Section 5 of this Plan, the Committee or its designee shall notify the Claimant within 45 days of allowance or denial of the
claim, unless the Claimant receives written notice from the Committee or its designee prior to the end of the 45-day period stating
that special circumstances require an extension (of up to 45 additional days) of the time for decision.  The notice of the decision of
the Committee or its designee shall be in writing sent by mail to Claimant’s last known address, and if a denial of the claim, shall
contain the following information:  (a) the specific reasons for the denial; (b) specific reference to pertinent provisions of the Plan
on which the denial is based; and (c) if applicable, a description of any additional information or material necessary to perfect the
claim, an explanation of why such information or material is necessary, and an explanation of the claims review procedure and the
time limits applicable, including a statement of the Claimant’s rights to bring a civil action under Section 502(a) of the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”) following an adverse determination on review.  A Claimant is
entitled to request a review of any denial of his/her claim by the Committee.  The request for review must be submitted within 60
days of mailing of notice of the denial.  Absent a request for review within the 60-day period, the
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claim shall be deemed to be conclusively denied.  The Claimant or his or her representatives shall be provided, upon written request
and free of charge, reasonable access to, and copies of, all documents, records, and other information relevant to the claim for
benefits, and shall be entitled to submit issues and comments orally and in writing.  The Committee shall render a review decision
in writing within 60 days after receipt of a request for a review, provided that, in special circumstances the Committee may extend
the time for decision by not more than 60 days upon written notice to the Claimant.  The Claimant shall receive written notice of
the Committee’s review decision, together with specific reasons for the decision and reference to the pertinent provisions of the
Plan, a statement that the claimant or his or her authorized representative shall have reasonable access to, and be entitled to receive,
upon request and free of charge, copies of all documents, records and other information relevant to the Claimant’s claim, and a
statement describing the Claimant’s right to bring an action under Section 502(a) of ERISA.

5.10 Withholding.  The Company shall have the right to deduct from all amounts paid pursuant to the Plan
any taxes required by law to be withheld with respect to such amounts.  Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, the
Company does not guarantee any particular tax result for any Participant or beneficiary with respect to participation in or payments
under the Plan, and each Participant or beneficiary shall be responsible for any taxes imposed on the Participant or beneficiary with
respect to such participation or payments under the Plan.

5.11 Separation of Service.  “Separated from service” and variations thereof for purposes of this Section 5
and all other sections of the Plan means (i) with respect to the portion of a Participant’s Account that is attributable to deferrals of
Awards made for calendar years prior to 2005, that the Participant has retired or otherwise terminated employment with the
Company for any reason other than death and (ii) with respect to the portion of a Participant’s Account that is attributable to
deferrals of Awards made for 2005 and subsequent years, a “separation from service” within the meaning of Code Section 409A
and the regulations issued thereunder, including a termination of employment with the Company and all its Affiliates due to
retirement or any other reason, but excluding termination of employment due to death.  For purposes of applying the definition of
“separation from service” under Section 409A, if the Participant is on a bona fide leave of absence due to any medically
determinable physical or medical impairment that can be expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous
period of not less than six months, where such impairment causes the Participant to be unable to perform the duties of his or her
position of employment, a separation from service shall be deemed to occur after the expiration of 29 months of sick leave unless
the Participant retains the right to reemployment under an applicable statute or by contract.

SECTION 6

Miscellaneous

6.1 Change in Capitalization.  In the event of a stock dividend, stock split, issuance of additional shares,
recapitalization, merger, consolidation, combination or exchange of shares or other similar corporate change affecting the
Company’s common stock (“Corporate Change”), the number of Share Units that have been credited to Participants under the Plan
shall be
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automatically adjusted by the Committee to preserve each Participant’s proportionate interest immediately prior to such Corporate
Change.

6.2 Nontransferability, Nonassignability.  The interest of a Participant under the Plan is not subject to the
claims of his creditors, and may not be voluntarily or involuntarily assigned, transferred, alienated, pledged or encumbered.

6.3 Plan Not Contract of Employment.  The Plan does not constitute a contract of employment, and
participation in the Plan will not give any Participant the right to be retained in the employ of the Company or any Affiliate, nor
any right or claim to any benefit under the Plan unless such right or claim has specifically accrued under the terms of the Plan.  The
crediting of Share Units does not constitute the award of stock, and shall not be construed to give a Participant any rights as a
shareholder of the Company.

6.4 Source of Benefits.

(a) The Company is entitled, but not obligated, to establish a grantor trust or similar
funding mechanism to fund the Company’s obligations under this Plan; provided, however, that any funds contained therein will
remain subject to the claims of the Company’s general creditors.  The funding mechanism will constitute an unfunded
arrangement.  The Deferred Awards portions of the Plan are maintained primarily to provide deferred compensation benefits for a
select group of “management or highly-compensated employees” within the meaning of Sections 201, 301 and 401 of ERISA, and
therefore, exempt from the provisions of Parts 2, 3 and 4 of Title I of ERISA.

(b) The Company’s obligation under this Plan will be merely that of an unfunded and
unsecured promise of the Company to pay benefits in the future.  All Awards (and any corresponding assets held in a trust
established for this Plan), and any payment to be made pursuant to this Plan, will be subject to the claims of the general creditors of
the Company, including judgment creditors and bankruptcy creditors.  Neither any Participant, nor his or her beneficiaries, nor his
or her heirs, successors or assigns, will have any secured interest in or claim on any property or assets of the Company (or of any
trust).  The rights of a Participant or his or her beneficiaries to his or her Company Stock Account or General Investment Account
and to an Award (and to any assets held in trust) will be no greater than the rights of an unsecured creditor of the Company.

6.5 Affiliate.  For purposes of the Plan, the term “Affiliate” means any corporation, partnership, joint
venture, trust, association or other business enterprise which is a member of the same controlled group of corporations, trades or
businesses as the Company within the meaning of Code Section 414(b) or (c); provided, however, that except for purposes of the
term “Affiliate” when used in the definition of Specified Employee, in applying Code Section 1563(a)(1), (2), and (3) in
determining a controlled group of corporations under Code Section 414(b), the language “at least 50 percent” shall be used instead
of “at least 80 percent” each place it appears in Code Section 1563(a)(1), (2), and (3), and in applying Treasury Reg. §1.414(c)-2
for purposes of determining trades or businesses (whether or not incorporated) that are under common control for purposes of Code
Section 414(c), “at least 50 percent” shall be used instead of “at least 80 percent” each place it appears in Treasury Reg.
§1.414(c)-2.
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6.6 Timing of Payments.  Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, a distribution of a

Participant’s Account attributable to deferrals of Awards made for 2005 and subsequent years to be made as of a specified date or in
a specified period in Section 5 shall be made on the date or in the period specified or as soon as administratively practicable
thereafter, but in no event shall any portion of the distribution be made later than the last day of the same calendar year in which
such date or period occurs.  Until paid, any such amount otherwise distributable from a Participant’s Account shall continue to be
adjusted under Section 4 to reflect investment returns.  In addition, if calculation of the amount of a payment is not administratively
practicable due to events beyond the control of the Participant or his or her beneficiary, or if making of a payment would jeopardize
the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern, a payment will be treated as made on the specified date or in the
specified period for purposes of the Plan if the payment is made during the first calendar year in which the calculation of the
amount of the payment is administratively practicable or in which the making of the payment would not have such effect on the
Company, as the case may be.

6.7 Section 409A of the Code.  It is intended that the Plan (including any amendments thereto) comply with
the provisions of Section 409A of the Code so as to prevent the inclusion in gross income of any amounts accrued hereunder in a
taxable year that is prior to the taxable year or years in which such amounts would otherwise be actually distributed or made
available to Participants.  The Plan shall be interpreted, construed and administered in a manner that will comply with Section
409A of the Code, including final regulations or any other guidance issued by the Secretary of the Treasury and the Internal
Revenue Service with respect thereto.

6.8 Insider Trading Policy.  All elections made under the Plan by a Participant shall, to the extent
applicable, be subject to the terms of the Company’s Insider Trading Policy as in effect from time to time.

SECTION 7

Amendment and Termination

7.1 Amendment and Termination.  The Board of Directors may from time to time amend the Plan in such
respects as it deems advisable and may terminate the Plan at any time; provided, however, that no such amendment or termination
shall adversely affect any right or obligation with respect to any Award theretofore made under the Plan or cause any amount
deferred pursuant to the Plan to be included in gross income or subject to additional tax and interest under Code Section 409A(a)
(1); and provided further, that no amendment shall be made without stockholder approval if such approval is necessary to comply
with law, regulatory requirements or the rules of any exchange or automated quotation system upon which the Shares are listed or
quoted.

SECTION 8

Stockholder Approval

8.1 Stockholder approval.  The Plan as amended and restated herein shall be effective January 1, 2015,
subject to the approval of the amended and restated Plan by stockholders of the
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Company at its 2015 annual meeting by the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of stock of the Company present in person
or represented by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote.  

In WITNESS WHEREOF, Stepan Company has signed this Plan this 24th day of February, 2015.

 Stepan Company
  
  
 By: /s/ F. Quinn Stepan, Jr.
 Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13a – 14(a)/15d-14(a)

I, F. Quinn Stepan, Jr., certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Stepan Company;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant's independent registered public accounting firm and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: July 29, 2015
 

/s/ F. Quinn Stepan, Jr.
F. Quinn Stepan, Jr.

President and Chief Executive Officer
 

 



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF VICE PRESIDENT AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13a – 14(a)/15d-14(a)

I, Scott D. Beamer, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Stepan Company;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant's independent registered public accounting firm and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: July 29, 2015
 

/s/ Scott D. Beamer
Scott D. Beamer

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
 



 
Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Stepan Company (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2015, as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), each of the undersigned officers of the Company certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as
adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to such officer’s knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: July 29, 2015
 
 
/s/ F. Quinn Stepan, Jr.
Name: F. Quinn Stepan, Jr.
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
 
 
/s/ Scott D. Beamer
Name: Scott D. Beamer
Title: Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is not being filed as part of the Report or as a separate
disclosure document.

A signed original of this certification has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange
Commission or its staff upon request.

 


